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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

 
 
DOLORES KRUG, an individual; 
BRUCE HUFFMAN, an individual; and 
DONALD MARSO, an individual; 
JONATHAN SUPLER, an individual; 
on behalf of themselves and all others 
similarly situated, 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
FOCUS RECEIVABLES 
MANAGEMENT, LLC, a Georgia 
Limited Liability Company;  and JOHN 
AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1 
THROUGH 50,  
 
  Defendants. 
 

Case No.: __________________ 
 
 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

 
 Plaintiffs, DOLORES M. KRUG, BRUCE HUFFMAN, DONALD 

MARSO, and JONATHAN SUPLER, on behalf of themselves and all those 

similarly situated, by way of this Class Action Complaint against Defendants, say: 
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I.  PARTIES 

1. KRUG is a natural person.  

2. At all times relevant to this complaint, KRUG was a citizen of, and 

resided in, the Township of Millville, Cumberland County, New Jersey.  

3. HUFFMAN is a natural person.  

4. At all times relevant to this complaint, HUFFMAN was a citizen of, 

and resided in, the City of Advance, Stoddard County, Missouri.  

5. MARSO is a natural person.  

6. At all times relevant to this complaint, MARSO was a citizen of, and 

resided in, the City of Monona, Dane County, Wisconsin.  

7. SUPLER is a natural person.  

8. At all times relevant to this complaint, SUPLER was a citizen of, and 

resided in, the City of Raleigh, Wake County, North Carolina.  

9. At all times relevant to this complaint, FOCUS RECEIVABLES 

MANAGEMENT, LLC is a for-profit limited liability company existing pursuant 

to the laws of the State of Georgia. Based on information and belief, FOCUS 

maintains its principal business address at 1130 Northchase Parkway, Suite 150, 

City of Marietta, Cobb County, Georgia. 

10. Defendants, JOHN AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1 THROUGH 50, 

are sued under fictitious names as their true names and capacities are yet unknown 
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to Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs will amend this complaint by inserting the true names and 

capacities of these DOE defendants once they are ascertained.  

11. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and on that basis allege, that 

Defendants, JOHN AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1 THROUGH 50, are natural 

persons and/or business entities all of whom reside or are located within the United 

States who personally created, instituted and, with knowledge that such practices 

were contrary to law, acted consistent with and oversaw policies and procedures 

used by the employees of FOCUS that are the subject of this complaint. Those 

Defendants personally control the illegal acts, policies, and practices utilized by 

FOCUS and, therefore, are personally liable for all of the wrongdoing alleged in 

this Complaint. 

II.  JURISDICTION & VENUE 

12. Jurisdiction of this Court arises under 15 U.S.C. §1692k(d) and 28 

U.S.C. §1331.  

13. Declaratory relief is available pursuant to under 28 U.S.C. §§2201, 

2202. 

14. Venue is appropriate in this federal district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§1391(b) because a substantial part of the events giving rise to KRUG’s claims 

occurred within this federal judicial district, and because the Defendant, FOCUS, 

is subject to personal jurisdiction in the State of New Jersey at the time this action 
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is commenced. 

15. HUFFMAN, MARSO, and SUPLER join their claims with KRUG 

pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 20(a)(1) because those claims are with respect to or 

arise out of the same occurrence or series of transactions or occurrences as 

KRUG’s claims, and a question of law or fact is common to all Plaintiffs. 

III.  PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

16. Plaintiffs, on their own behalf and on behalf of the class they seek to 

represent, bring this action for the illegal practices of the Defendants who used 

false, deceptive and misleading practices, and other illegal practices, in connection 

with their attempts to collect alleged debts from the Plaintiffs and others.  

17. Plaintiffs allege that the Defendants’ collection practices violate the 

Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §§1692 et seq. (“FDCPA”). Such 

practices include, inter alia: 

(a) Leaving telephonic voice messages for consumers and others, which 

fail to provide meaningful disclosure of FOCUS’s identity;  

(b) Leaving telephonic voice messages for consumers, which fail to 

disclose that the call is from a debt collector; and 

(c) Leaving telephonic voice messages for consumers, which fail to 

disclose the purpose or nature of the communication (i.e. an attempt to 

collect a debt).  
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18. The FDCPA regulates the behavior of collection agencies attempting 

to collect a debt on behalf of another. The United States Congress found abundant 

evidence of the use of abusive, deceptive, and unfair debt collection practices by 

many debt collectors, and has determined that abusive debt collection practices 

contribute to a number of personal bankruptcies, marital instability, loss of jobs, 

and invasions of individual privacy. Congress enacted the FDCPA to eliminate 

abusive debt collection practices by debt collectors, to ensure that those debt 

collectors who refrain from using abusive debt collection practices are not 

competitively disadvantaged, and to promote uniform State action to protect 

consumers against debt collection abuses. 15 U.S.C. §1692(a) - (e).  

19. The FDCPA is a strict liability statute which provides for actual or 

statutory damages upon the showing of one violation. The Third Circuit has held 

that whether a debt collector’s conduct violates the FDCPA should be judged from 

the standpoint of the “least sophisticated consumer.” Graziano v. Harrison, 950 

F.2d 107, 111, fn5 (3d Cir. 1991). 

20. To prohibit harassment and abuse by debt collectors the FDCPA, at 15 

U.S.C. §1692d, provides that a debt collector may not engage in any conduct the 

natural consequence of which is to harass, oppress, or abuse any person in 

connection with the collection of a debt and enumerates a non-exhaustive list of 

such conduct which is deemed to violate that section. 15 U.S.C. §1692d(1)-(6). In 
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that list is the placement of telephone calls without meaningful disclosure of the 

caller’s identity. 15 U.S.C. §1692d(6). 

21. To prohibit deceptive practices, the FDCPA, at 15 U.S.C. §1692e, 

provides that a debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading 

representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt and 

enumerates a acts and omissions which are deemed to violate that section. 15 

U.S.C. §1692e(1)-(16). In that list is the failure by debt collectors to disclose, in 

initial oral communications, that the debt collector is attempting to collect a debt 

and that any information obtained will be used for that purpose and, in subsequent 

communications, that the communication is from a debt collector. 15 U.S.C. 

§1692e(11). 

22. The Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly 

situated, seek certification of this action as a class action, statutory damages 

pursuant to the FDCPA, attorney fees, costs, declaratory judgment and all other 

relief, equitable or legal in nature, as deemed appropriate by this Court. 

IV. FACTS CONCERNING KRUG 

23. Sometime prior to March 2008, KRUG allegedly incurred a financial 

obligation (“Krug Obligation”). 

24. The Krug Obligation arises out of a transaction in which the money, 

property, insurance, or services which are the subject of the transaction are 
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primarily for personal, family, or household purposes. 

25. FOCUS contends that the Krug Obligation is in default.  

26. The Krug Obligation is a “debt” as defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(5). 

27. KRUG is, at all times relevant to this complaint, a “consumer” as that 

term is defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(3). 

28. KRUG is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that 

sometime prior to March 2008, the creditor of the Krug Obligation either directly 

or through intermediate transactions assigned, placed, transferred, or sold the debt 

to FOCUS for collection. 

29. On August 21, 2008, September 14, 2008, and September 23, 2008 (as 

well as on June 6, 2008, June 12, 2008, June 18, 2008, June 21, 2008, June 30, 

2008), FOCUS left KRUG the following pre-recorded message on her home 

answering machine: 

Hello, please contact Julie Lewis at 866-918-2469 
regarding a personal business matter. Again, that number 
is 866-918-2469. Thank you.  

 
30. Each of the messages conveyed information regarding a debt to 

KRUG. 

V. FACTS CONCERNING HUFFMAN 

31. Sometime prior to September 2008, HUFFMAN allegedly incurred a 

financial obligation (“Huffman Obligation”). 
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32. The Huffman Obligation arises out of a transaction in which the 

money, property, insurance, or services which are the subject of the transaction are 

primarily for personal, family, or household purposes. 

33. FOCUS contends that the Huffman Obligation is in default.  

34. The Huffman Obligation is a “debt” as defined by 15 U.S.C. 

§1692a(5). 

35. HUFFMAN is, at all times relevant to this complaint, a “consumer” as 

that term is defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(3). 

36. HUFFMAN is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that 

sometime prior to September 2008, the creditor of the Huffman Obligation either 

directly or through intermediate transactions assigned, placed, transferred, or sold 

the debt to FOCUS for collection. 

37. On multiple dates in or about September 2008, FOCUS left 

HUFFMAN the following pre-recorded message on his home answering machine: 

This message is for -- Bruce Huffman. This is Miss 
Mack, I am requesting a call back from you today. You 
can contact my office toll-free, 1-888-379-9266; my 
direct extension is 2001. Again, it is imperative that you 
do contact my office today. This is not a sales or 
solicitation call, contact my office, 1-888-379-9266. 

 
38. On multiple dates in or about September 2008, FOCUS left 

HUFFMAN the following pre-recorded message on his home answering machine: 

Hi, this is Chris Smith, calling regarding a personal 
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business matter. Please return my call at 877-623-6287. 
Once again, please call Chris Smith at 877-623-6287. 
Thank you.  

 
39. Each of the messages conveyed information regarding a debt to 

HUFFMAN. 

VI. FACTS CONCERNING MARSO 

40. Sometime prior to January 2009, MARSO allegedly incurred a 

financial obligation (“Marso Obligation”). 

41. The Marso Obligation arises out of a transaction in which the money, 

property, insurance, or services which are the subject of the transaction are 

primarily for personal, family, or household purposes. 

42. FOCUS contends that the Marso Obligation is in default.  

43. The Marso Obligation is a “debt” as defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(5). 

44. MARSO is, at all times relevant to this complaint, a “consumer” as 

that term is defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(3). 

45. MARSO is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that 

sometime prior to January 2009, the creditor of the Marso Obligation either 

directly or through intermediate transactions assigned, placed, transferred, or sold 

the debt to FOCUS for collection. 

46. On January 15, 2009, January 20, 2009, January 21, 2009, January 22, 

2009, January 23, 2009, January 25, 2009, January 26, 2009, January 27, 2009, 
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FOCUS left MARSO the following pre-recorded message on his home answering 

machine: 

Please contact Jane Cross at 1-877-623-6287 between the 
hours of 8:00 a.m. and 9:00 p.m. Monday through 
Thursday, and 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on Fridays. Thank 
you. 

  
47. On February 4, 2009, FOCUS left MARSO the following pre-

recorded message on his home answering machine: 

Please call Ashley Boyle at 1-877-623-6287. Once again, 
my number is 1-877-623-6287. Thank you. 

  
48. On February 25, 2009, FOCUS left MARSO the following pre-

recorded message on his home answering machine: 

Please contact the Office of Raymond Edge regarding a 
personal business matter. That toll-free number is 1-877-
623-6287. Once again,  877-623-6287. Thank you. 

 
VII. FACTS CONCERNING SUPLER 

49. Sometime prior to April 2009, SUPLER allegedly incurred a financial 

obligation (“Supler Obligation”). 

50. The Supler Obligation arises out of a transaction in which the money, 

property, insurance, or services which are the subject of the transaction are 

primarily for personal, family, or household purposes. 

51. FOCUS contends that the Supler Obligation is in default.  

52. The Supler Obligation is a “debt” as defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(5). 
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53. SUPLER is, at all times relevant to this complaint, a “consumer” as 

that term is defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(3). 

54. SUPLER is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that 

sometime prior to April 2009, the creditor of the Supler Obligation either directly 

or through intermediate transactions assigned, placed, transferred, or sold the debt 

to FOCUS for collection. 

55. On or about April 12, 2009, FOCUS left SUPLER the following pre-

recorded message on his home answering machine: 

This is Brad Smith, please return my call at 1-866-913-
2236; my direct extension is 241. 

  
56. On or about April 12, 2009, FOCUS left SUPLER the following pre-

recorded message on his home answering machine: 

Please contact the office of Michelle Murray. I can be 
reached at 1-800-514-4778. This is regarding an 
important business matter. Again, contact my office at 1-
800-514-4778. Thank you. 
 

57. On multiple occasions or about June 26, 2009, FOCUS left SUPLER 

the following pre-recorded message on his home answering machine: 

Garcia at 1-800-514-4778. Once again, the number is 1-
800-514-4778. Thank you. 

  
58. On or about June 26, 2009, FOCUS left SUPLER the following live 

message on his home answering machine: 

Hi, I’m trying to get in touch with Jonathan Supler. John, 
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this is Nicole Dorbey. If you can please give me a call 
back at 1-866-913-2236, extension 274. Thank you. 

 
VIII. FACTS COMMON TO ALL PLAINTIFFS 

59. FOCUS collects and attempts to collect debts incurred, or alleged to 

have been incurred, for personal, family, or household purposes on behalf of 

creditors using the U.S. Mail, telephone, and Internet. 

60. FOCUS is a “debt collector” as defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(6). 

61. Within the one year immediately preceding the filing of this 

complaint, FOCUS placed telephone calls to each of the Plaintiffs and left “live” 

and pre-recorded telephonic voice messages on their home telephone answering 

machines. 

62. Each message conveyed information regarding a debt to KRUG, 

HUFFMAN, MARSO, and SUPLER. 

63. Each message is a “communication” as defined by 15 U.S.C. 

§1692a(2). 

64. Each message was left by, or caused to be left by, persons employed 

by FOCUS. 

65. Each message failed to disclose the purpose or nature of the 

communication (i.e., an attempt to collect a debt). 

66. Each message failed to identify FOCUS by name as the caller. 

67. Each message failed to disclose that the communication was from a 
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debt collector. 

68. Each message is false, deceptive, and misleading in that the natural 

consequence of these communications is to harass, oppress, or abuse the least 

sophisticated consumer and other persons in violation of the FDCPA. 

69. Each message is false, deceptive, and misleading insofar as FOCUS 

failed to give meaningful disclosure of its identity, disclose the purpose of its call, 

or disclose that FOCUS is a debt collector, thereby circumventing Congress’s 

intent to permit the Plaintiffs to make an informed decision as to whether he 

wished to speak with a debt collector. 

IX.  POLICIES AND PRACTICES COMPLAINED OF 

70. It is Defendants’ policy and practice to leave telephonic voice 

messages for consumers and other persons, such as the messages, that violate the 

FDCPA by uniformly failing to: 

(a) Provide meaningful disclosure of FOCUS’s identity as the caller; 

(b) Disclose the purpose or nature of the communication (namely, an 

attempt to collect a debt); and 

(c) Disclose that the communication was from a debt collector. 

71. On information and belief, the messages, as alleged in this complaint 

under the Facts Common to All Plaintiffs, number at least in the thousands.  
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X.  CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

72. This action is brought as a class action. Plaintiffs bring this action on 

behalf of themselves and on behalf of all other persons similarly situated pursuant 

to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

73. The Plaintiff Class consists of all persons with addresses in the United 

States of America who received a telephonic voice message from FOCUS during a 

telephone call placed by after one-year immediately preceding the commencement 

of this civil action up through and including the date of preliminary class 

certification, which message failed to meaningfully identify FOCUS as the caller, , 

state the purpose or nature of the call, or disclose that the call was from a debt 

collector. 

74. The identities of all class members are ascertainable from the records 

of FOCUS and those entities on whose behalf it attempt to collects debts. 

75. Excluded from the Plaintiff Class are the Defendants and all officers, 

members, partners, managers, directors, and employees of FOCUS and their 

respective immediate families, and legal counsel for all parties to this action and all 

members of their immediate families. 

76. The class period is one year prior to the filing of the initial complaint 

in this action and continues up to and including the date of preliminary class 

certification. 
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77. There are questions of law and fact common to the Plaintiff Class, 

which common issues predominate over any issues involving only individual class 

members. Those principal issues are: whether the Defendants’ telephonic voice 

messages, such as the messages, violate 15 U.S.C. §§1692d(6) and 1692e(11). 

78. The Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the class members, as all are 

based upon the same facts and legal theories. 

79. The Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the 

Plaintiff Class defined in this complaint. 

80. The Plaintiffs have retained counsel whom they seek to be appointed 

by the Court as class counsel. 

81. Plaintiffs’ counsel is experienced in handling consumer lawsuits, 

complex litigation, and class actions, and has knowledge of the applicable law. 

82. Neither the Plaintiffs nor their attorneys have any interests which 

might cause them not to vigorously pursue this action. 

83. This action has been brought, and may properly be maintained, as a 

class action pursuant to the provisions of Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure because there is a well-defined community interest in the litigation: 

(a) Numerosity: The Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and on that 

basis allege, that the Plaintiff Class defined above is so numerous that 

joinder of all members would be impractical. 
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(b) Common Questions Predominate: Common questions of law and 

fact exist as to all members of the Plaintiff Class and those questions 

predominate over any questions or issues involving only individual 

class members. The principal issues are whether the Defendants’ 

telephonic voice messages, such as the messages, violate 15 U.S.C. 

§§1692d(6) and 1692e(11). 

(c) Typicality: The Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the class 

members. Plaintiffs and all members of the Plaintiff Class have claims 

arising out of the Defendants’ common uniform course of conduct 

complained of herein. 

(d) Adequacy: The Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the 

interests of the class members insofar as Plaintiffs have no interests 

that are adverse to the absent class members. The Plaintiffs are 

committed to vigorously litigating this matter. Plaintiffs have also 

retained counsel experienced in handling consumer lawsuits, complex 

legal issues, and class actions. Neither the Plaintiffs nor their counsel 

have any interests which might cause them not to vigorously pursue 

the instant class action lawsuit. 

(e) Superiority: A class action is superior to the other available means 

for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy because 
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individual joinder of all members would be impracticable. Class 

action treatment will permit a large number of similarly situated 

persons to prosecute their common claims in a single forum efficiently 

and without unnecessary duplication of effort and expense that 

individual actions would engender. An important public interest will 

be served by addressing the matter as a class action, substantial 

expenses to the litigants and to the judicial system will be realized, 

and the potential inconsistent or contradictory adjudications will be 

avoided as contemplated by Rule 23(b)(1) of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure. 

84. Certification of a class under Rule 23(b)(1)(A) of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure is appropriate because adjudications with respect to individual 

members create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications which could 

establish incompatible standards of conduct for FOCUS, which, on information 

and belief, collects debts throughout the United States of America.  

85. Certification of a class under Rule 23(b)(2) of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure is also appropriate in that a determination that messages violate 15 

U.S.C. §1692d(6) and/or §1692e(11) is tantamount to declaratory relief and any 

monetary relief under the FDCPA would be merely incidental to that 

determination. 
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86. Certification of a class under Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure is also appropriate in that the questions of law and fact common to 

members of the Plaintiff Class predominate over any questions affecting an 

individual member, and a class action is superior to other available methods for the 

fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy. 

XI.  CAUSE OF ACTION  
VIOLATIONS OF THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT 

(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS) 
 

87. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations in the 

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

88. Defendants violated the FDCPA. Defendants’ violations with respect 

to the messages include, but are not limited to, the following: 

(a) Placing telephone calls without providing meaningful disclosure of 

FOCUS’s identity as the caller in violation of 15 U.S.C. §1692d(6); 

(b) Leaving telephonic voice messages which fail to disclose the purpose 

or nature of the communication (namely, an attempt to collect a debt) 

in violation of 15 U.S.C. §1692d(6); and 

(c) Failing to disclose in all oral communications that FOCUS is a “debt 

collector” in violation of 15 U.S.C. §1692e(11). 

XII.  PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

89. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court enter 
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judgment in their favor and in favor of the Plaintiff Class as follows: 

(a) Class Certification. An order certifying that the First Cause of Action 

may be maintained as a class pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules 

of Civil Procedure and appointing Plaintiffs and the undersigned 

counsel to represent the Plaintiff Class as previously set forth and 

defined above. 

(b) Statutory Damages. An award of the maximum “additional damages” 

for Plaintiffs and the Plaintiff Class pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 

§1692k(a)(2)(A) and (B); 

(c) Declaratory Relief. Declaratory relief, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§2201, 

2202, adjudicating that FOCUS’s messages violate the FDCPA; 

(d) Counsel Fees and Costs. Attorney’s fees, litigation expenses, and 

costs pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1692k(a)(B)(3); and 

(e) Other Relief. For such other and further relief as may be just and 

proper. 

 
 
Dated: August 21, 2009 

WACKS & HARTMANN, LLC 
 

/s/ Philip D. Stern 
 PHILIP D. STERN 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs, DOLORES M. KRUG, 
BRUCE HUFFMAN, and DONALD MARSO 

and  all others similarly situated 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

DOLORES KRUG, ET AL.,
Plaintiff

         V. SUMMONS IN A CIVIL CASE

FOCUS RECEIVABLES MANAGEMENT, LLC,
ET AL.,
Defendant

CASE NUMBER: 1:09−CV−04310−JEI−AMD

     TO: (Name and address of Defendant):

      A lawsuit has been filed against you.

      Within 20 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) −− or 60 days if
you are the United States or a United States Agency, or an office or employee of the United States described in
Fed. R. civ. P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) −− you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a
motion under rule 12 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the
plaintiff or plaintiff`s attorney, whose name and address are:

      If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the
complaint. You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

WILLIAM T. WALSH

 CLERK
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 DESIREE RAMSEY
 (By) DEPUTY CLERK

ISSUED ON 2009−08−24 13:36:56.0, Clerk
USDC NJD
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RETURN OF SERVICE

 Service of the Summons and complaint was made by me(1)
 DATE

 NAME OF SERVER (PRINT)  TITLE

 Check one box below to indicate appropriate method of service

Served personally upon the defendant. Place where served: _______________________________________
________________________________________________________________________

Left copies thereof at the defendant's dwelling house or usual place of abode with a person of suitable age and
discretion then residing therein.

Name of person with whom the summons and complaint were left:__________________________________

Returned unexecuted:_____________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________

Other (specify) :_________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________

STATEMENT OF SERVICE FEES
 TRAVEL  SERVICES  TOTAL

DECLARATION OF SERVER

     I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the foregoing information
contained in the Return of Service and Statement of Service Fees is true and correct.

Executed on ___________________ _______________________________________
Date Signature of Server

_______________________________________
Address of Server
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

DOLORES KRUG, ET AL.,
Plaintiff

         V. SUMMONS IN A CIVIL CASE

FOCUS RECEIVABLES MANAGEMENT, LLC,
ET AL.,
Defendant

CASE NUMBER: 1:09−CV−04310−JEI−AMD

     TO: (Name and address of Defendant):

      A lawsuit has been filed against you.

      Within 20 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) −− or 60 days if
you are the United States or a United States Agency, or an office or employee of the United States described in
Fed. R. civ. P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) −− you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a
motion under rule 12 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the
plaintiff or plaintiff`s attorney, whose name and address are:

      If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the
complaint. You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

WILLIAM T. WALSH
 CLERK
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FOCUS RECEIVABLES MANAGEMENT, LLC
c/o its Registered Agent, Lexis Document Services, Inc.
830 Bear Tavern Road
Trenton, NJ 08628-1020

PHILIP D. STERN, ESQ.
Wacks & Hartmann, LLC
55 Madison Avenue, Suite 320A
Morristown, NJ 07960
Telephone: (973) 644-0770
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 DESIREE RAMSEY
 (By) DEPUTY CLERK

ISSUED ON 2009−08−24 13:36:56.0, Clerk
USDC NJD
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RETURN OF SERVICE

 Service of the Summons and complaint was made by me (1)  DATE

 NAME OF SERVER (PRINT)  TITLE

 Check one box below to indicate appropriate method of service

Served personally upon the defendant. Place where served: _______________________________________
________________________________________________________________________

Left copies thereof at the defendant's dwelling house or usual place of abode with a person of suitable age and
discretion then residing therein.

Name of person with whom the summons and complaint were left:__________________________________

Returned unexecuted:_____________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________

Other (specify) :_________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________

STATEMENT OF SERVICE FEES
 TRAVEL  SERVICES  TOTAL

DECLARATION OF SERVER

     I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the foregoing information
contained in the Return of Service and Statement of Service Fees is true and correct.

Executed on ___________________ _______________________________________
Date Signature of Server

_______________________________________
Address of Server
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Virginia A. Pallotto
BUDD LARNER, P.C.
150 J. F. Kennedy Parkway, 3rd floor
Short Hills, New Jersey 07078-2703
973-379-4800
973-379-7734 facsimile
vpallotto@budd-Iarner.com
Attorneys for Defendant
Focus Receivables Management, LLC

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

DOLORES KRUG, et aI,

Plaintiffs,

- against-

FOCUS RECEIVABLES MANAGEMENT,
LLC, et al

Defendants.

TO: Philip D. Stem, Esq.
Wacks & Hartmann, LLC
55 Madison Avenue, Suite 320A
Morristown, NJ 07960-7397

Attorney for Plaintiffs

Civil Action No.: 1:09-cv-043I O-JEI-AMD

DEFENDANT'S NOTICE OF MOTION
TO DISMISS COMPLAINT

Motion Return Date: November 2, 2009

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE, that on Monday, November 2, 2009, at 9:00 A.M. or as

soon thereafter as counsel may be heard, the attorneys for defendant, Focus Receivables

Management, LLC, shall apply, by way of motion, before the United States District Court for the
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District of New Jersey for an Order pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), to dismiss the

complaint with prejudice.

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that defendant shall rely upon the Memorandum

of Law, Affidavit of Virginia A. Pallotto, Affidavit of Steven R. Koepke, and proposed form of

Order submitted herewith.

Virginia A. allotto
Jason Watson

BUDD LARNER, P.C.
Attorneys for Defendant
Focus Receivables Management, LLC

Dated: October 7, 2009

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 7th day of October, 2009, I caused one copy of the foregoing
NOTICE OF MOTION TO DISMISS, along with copies of an accompanying MEMORANDUM
OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF MOTION, PALLOTTO AFFIDAVIT, KOEPKE AFFIDAVIT and
a PROPOSED FORM OF ORDER to be:

(1)

(2)

Electronically filed with the U.S. District Court for the District of New
Jersey;

Served via regular mail upon counsel for plaintiffs at the following
address:

Philip D. Stem, Esq.
Wacks & Hartmann, LLC
55 Madison Avenue, Suite 320A
Morristown, NJ 07960-7397; and

- 2 -
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(3) Sent via regular mail, as a courtesy copy pursuant to Local Rule 7.1, to:

Honorable Joseph E. Irenas
United States District Court for New Jersey
Mitchell H. Cohen Building & U.S. Courthouse
4th & Cooper Streets
Room SA
Camden, NJ 08101

VIRGINIA A. PALLOTTa

Dated: October 7,2009

723144w

- 3 -



Case 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD     Document 5-2      Filed 10/07/2009     Page 1 of 25

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

DOLORES KRUG, et aI.,
Civil Action No. 09-cv-0431O-JEI-AMD

Plaintiffs,

v.
Motion Return Date: November 2, 2009

FOCUS RECEIVABLES
MANAGEMENT, LLC.,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF FOCUS RECEIVABLES
MANAGEMENT, LLC'S MOTION TO DISMISS

BUDD LARNER, P.e.
150 John F. Kennedy Parkway, CN 1000
Short Hills, NJ 07078-2703
(973) 379-4800
(973) 379-7734 fax
Attorneys for Defendant,
Focus Receivables Management, LLC

On the Brief:

Virginia A. Pallotto, Esq.
Jason T. Watson, Esq.
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

On August 21, 2009 plaintiffs, Dolores Krug ("Krug"), Bruce Huffman ("Huffman"),

Donald Marso ("Marso") and Jonathan Supler ("Supler") (collectively "plaintiffs"), filed this

class action suit against defendant Focus Receivables Management ("Focus") and fifty

unidentified, fictitious defendants. Plaintiffs seek individual and class action relief for alleged

violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act ("FDCPA"), 15 U.S.C. §1692 et seq. For the

reasons that follow, plaintiffs' complaint should be dismissed in its entirety with prejudice.

As to plaintiffs' proposed class action under the FDCPA, those claims should be

dismissed because they cannot satisfy Rule 23(b)(3)'s superiority requirement. Rule 23(b)(3)

requires that a class action be superior to other available methods for fairly and efficiently

adjudicating the controversy. Plaintiffs' complaint cannot meet this requirement now or at the

class certification stage. Specifically, plaintiffs' proposed nationwide class would work to

reduce the recovery of class members to a mere fraction of the damages available under the Act.

The FDCPA limits recovery in class actions to the lesser of $500,000 or 1% of the net

worth of the defendant and caps individual damages at $1,000. Even if we were to consider, for

the purposes of this motion only,l the higher class cap of $500,000, and using the estimates in

plaintiffs' complaint that the messages "number at least in the thousands," a class of some

20,000 members, for example, would receive only $25.00 each. Each class member would be

deprived of the opportunity to pursue individual claims while receiving only 2.5% of the

1 Section 1692K(a)(2)(B) of the FDCPA limits damages in a class action to the "lesser" of
$500,000 or 1 percent of the net worth of the defendant. We have used examples of the amount
of individual recoveries in a class action based on the Act's $500,000 maximum monetary cap
(as opposed to the 1 percent of the net worth of the defendant) to demonstrate that recovery in
this instance, based on the size of the potential class would be de minimis even if the maximum
amount of recovery were to be used. We do so without prejudice to Focus' right, should the
motion be denied, to assert that the recovery for the class would be capped at 1 percent of Focus'
net worth.
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maximum statutory damages. In fact, the potential size of the class, based on the proposed

nationwide class and even for the limited time period of one year prior to the commencement of

the filing of the complaint up to the filing of the complaint2 would have potentially over

1,000,000 class members. The likely de minimis recovery for each class member renders this

matter inappropriate for class action treatment. A class action is not superior to other available

methods for fairly and efficiently adjudicating this controversy.

Importantly, plaintiffs have also failed to make out a claim that Focus violated the

FDCPA's disclosure requirements, because the voicemail messages they complain of do not

constitute "communications" for purposes of the Act. The FDCPA sets forth a limited and

unambiguous definition of the "communications" that are subject to the Act. A voicemail

message must convey information regarding the debt to qualify as a "communication." The

messages at issue here do not convey any such information. Indeed, the messages never even

mention the words "debt" or "debt collection." They are benign messages asking to speak with

the plaintiffs. Had defendant left the voice messages that plaintiffs proposes, i.e. disclosing that

the phone call is from a debt collector for the purposes of collecting a debt, the defendant would

have run the risk of violating other provisions of the FDCPA as well as state laws that prohibit

the disclosure of debts to third-parties.

Plaintiffs also neglect to plead any allegations as to whether there was any prior contact

between themselves and Focus. This glaring factual omission renders their claims deficient,

because courts have consistently held that the question of whether the FDCPA disclosure

requirements have been violated is dependent, in part, on the overall factual context in which the

2 Plaintiffs have sought a time period of one-year prior to the complaint up to the time of class
certification.

- 2 -



Case 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD     Document 5-2      Filed 10/07/2009     Page 8 of 25

message was received. Plaintiffs have not provided this necessary factual context; nowhere in

their complaint do they allege whether they had been contacted by Focus before the messages at

issue.

Plaintiffs' complaint entirely fails to make out claims against Focus for which relief can

be granted. The complaint is deficient on its face. Accordingly, Focus moves for an order

dismissing plaintiffs' claims with prejudice.

- 3 -
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STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiffs filed their complaint on August 21,2009. Their complaint seeks individual and

class-based damages for alleged violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.c. §

1692 et seq. See Complaint attached to the Affidavit of Virginia A. Pallotto ("Pallotto Aff.") at

Exh. 1, ~ 88 (hereinafter simply "CompI."). Specifically, plaintiffs' complaint alleges that Focus

violated the FDCPA by: (a) placing telephone calls without providing meaningful disclosure of

Focus' identity as the caller in violation of 15 U.S.C. §1692d(6); (b) leaving telephonic voice

messages which fail to disclose the purpose or nature of the communication (namely, an attempt

to collect a debt) in violation of 15 U.S.c. §1692d(6); and (c) failing to disclose in all oral

communications that Focus is a "debt collector" in violation of 15 U.S.c. §1692e(1l). CompI. ~

88.

As to the plaintiff Krug, the complaint contends that she was, at all times relevant to this

matter, a citizen of, and resided in, the Township of Millville, Cumberland County, New Jersey.

CompI. ~ 2. Plaintiffs further contend that she incurred a financial obligation prior to March

2008 that was eventually transferred to Focus for collection. CompI. ~ 23. Plaintiffs allege that

on several occasions, Focus left her the following pre-recorded message on her home answering

machine:

Hello, please contact Julie Lewis at 866-918-2469 regarding a personal business
matter. Again, that number is 866-918-2469. Thank you.

CompI. ~ 29. Plaintiffs' complaint provides no information as to prior contact between Krug and

Focus.

As to plaintiff Huffman, the complaint alleges that he incurred a financial obligation prior

to September 2008 that was eventually transferred to Focus for collection. CompI. ~ 36.
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Plaintiffs further allege that on several occasions, Focus left him the following pre-recorded

message on his home answering machine:

This message is for -- Bruce Huffman. This is Miss Mack, I am requesting a call
back from you today. You can contact my office toll-free, 1-888-379-9266; my
direct extension is 2001. Again, it is imperative that you do contact my office
today. This is not a sales or solicitation call, contact my office, 1-888-379-9266.

Compi. ~ 37. Plaintiffs' complaint provides no information as to prior contact between Huffman

and Focus.

As to plaintiff Marso, the complaint alleges that he incurred a financial obligation prior to

January 2009 that was eventually transferred to Focus for collection. Compi. ~ 45. Plaintiffs

further allege that on several occasions, Focus left him the following pre-recorded message on

his home answering machine:

Please contact Jane Cross at 1-877-623-6287 between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and
9:00 p.m. Monday through Thursday, and 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on Fridays.
Thank you.

Please call Ashley Boyle at 1-877-623-6287. Once again, my number is 1-877
623-6287. Thank you.

Please contact the Office of Raymond Edge regarding a personal business matter.
That toll-free number is 1-877-623-6287. Once again, 877-623-6287. Thank you.

Compi. ~~ 46-48. Plaintiffs' complaint provides no information as to any contact between Marso

and Focus.

As to plaintiff Supler, the complaint alleges that he incurred a financial obligation prior to

January 2009 that was eventually transferred to Focus for collection. Compi. ~ 54. Plaintiffs

further allege that on several occasions, Focus left him the following pre-recorded and live

messages on his home answering machine:

- 5 -



Case 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD     Document 5-2      Filed 10/07/2009     Page 11 of 25

Please contact the office of Michelle Murray. I can be reached at 1-800-514-4778.
This is regarding an important business matter. Again, contact my office at 1-800
514-4778. Thank you.

Garcia at 1-800-514-4778. Once again, the number is 1-800-514-4778. Thank
you.

Hi, I'm trying to get in touch with Jonathan Supler. John, this is Nicole Dorbey. If
you can please give me a call back at 1-866-913-2236, extension 274. Thank you.

Compi. ~~ 55-58. Plaintiffs' complaint provides no further information as to any prior contact

between Supler and Focus.

Plaintiffs allege that the messages did not identify Focus as the caller, did not disclose

that the communication was from a debt collector, or disclose that the calls were placed in

connection with a debt. Compi. ~~ 65-67.

Plaintiffs further allege: "Each message is false, deceptive, and misleading insofar as

FOCUS failed to give meaningful disclosure of its identity, disclose the purpose of its call, or

disclose that FOCUS is a debt collector, thereby circumventing Congress's intent to permit the

Plaintiffs to make an informed decision as to whether he wished to speak with a debt collector."

Compi. ~ 69. Plaintiffs allege that it is Focus' "policy and practice to leave telephonic voice

messages for consumers and other persons, such as the messages, that violate the FDCPA."

Compi. ~ 70.

Plaintiffs contend that Focus left "at least thousands" of similar messages with consumers

throughout the country. Compi. ~ 71.

Plaintiffs propose a nationwide class consisting of "all persons with addresses in the

United States of America who received a telephonic voice message from FOCUS during a

telephone call placed by after one-year immediately preceding the commencement of this civil

action up through and including the date of preliminary class certification, which message failed
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to meaningfully identify FOCUS as the caller, state the purpose or nature of the call, or disclose

that the call was from a debt collector." CompI. ~ 73.

The potential size of the class is indeed very large, with Focus having over 2,092,389

accounts for the one-year period prior to the filing of the complaint up to the date of the

complaint, August 21, 2009. See Affidavit of Steven R. Koepke ("Koepke Mf."), submitted

herewith, at ~ 4. Even if this number were conservatively cut in half, the potential class size is

1,046,194. Id.

Plaintiffs, individually and on behalf of the proposed class, seek statutory damages,

actual damages, and declaratory relief.
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ARGUMENT

POINT I

Motion to Dismiss Standard

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) provides that a defendant may move to dismiss

a claim for "failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted." A complaint should be

dismissed where plaintiff s allegations, taken as true, fail to state a claim. In re Warfarin Sodium

Antitrust Litig., 214 F.3d 395, 397-98 (3d Cir. 2000). In deciding a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, a

district court is required to accept as true all factual allegations in the complaint and draw all

inferences from the facts alleged in the light most favorable to Phillips. Worldcom, Inc. v.

Graphnet, Inc., 343 F.3d 651, 653 (3d Cir. 2003). While a court must view the factual

allegations of a complaint as true in a motion to dismiss, it is not compelled to accept

"unsupported conclusions and unwarranted inferences" or "a legal conclusion couched as a

factual allegation." Baraka v. McGreevey, 481 F.3d 187, 211 (3d Cir. 2007) (internal citations

omitted).

"While a Complaint attacked by a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss does not need detailed

factual allegations, a plaintiffs obligation to provide the 'grounds' of his 'entitle[ment] to relief

requires more than labels and conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause

of action will not do." Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (alteration in

original)(internal citations omitted). "After Twombly, it is no longer sufficient to allege mere

elements of a cause of action; instead 'a complaint must allege facts suggestive of [the

proscribed] conduct.'" Phillips v. County of Allegheny, 515 F.3d 224, 234 (3d Cir. 2008)

(making clear that the Twombly standard is generally applicable). A plaintiffs factual

allegations are evaluated for sufficiency under a plausibility standard, which "calls for enough
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fact to raise a reasonable expectation that discovery will reveal evidence" that the plaintiff is

entitled to relief. Twombly, 550 U.S. at 556. See also County of Allegheny, 515 F.3d at 234. A

complaint survives dismissal only if "there [is] some showing sufficient to justify moving the

case beyond the pleadings to the next stage oflitigation." Id. at 234-235.

It is within the sound discretion of a district court to decide a dispositive motion, and

specifically a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, without reaching the class certification stage. See

Zimmerman v. HBO Affiliate Group, 834 F.2d 1163, 1169-70 (3d Cir. 1987) (finding no error in

district court's refusal to consider class certification before determining whether the named

plaintiff had a cause of action); Searles v. Southeastern Pa. Transp. Auth., 990 F.2d 789, 790 n. 1

& 794 (3d Cir. 1993) (affirming grant of motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim and noting

that "the district court did not rule on the class certification because it ultimately concluded that

plaintiff failed to state a claim").

Moreover, courts have long held that defendants may raise issues going to the propriety

of class action relief by way of a motion to dismiss. See Peltier v. Exxon Corp., 527 F.2d 757

(9th Cir. 1975) (the district court's determination of the class action allegations was not

erroneous where plaintiff was found not to be an adequate representative of the class that he

sought to represent). See also Meyers v. Ace Hardware, Inc., 95 F.R.D. 145 (D.Ohio 1982);

Hyatt v. United Aircraft Corp., 50 F.R.D. 242 (D.Conn. 1970); Jenkins v. General Motors

Corporation, 354 F. Supp. 1040 (D.De1.1973); Osborn v. Pennsylvania-Delaware Service Station

Dealers Association, 499 F. Supp. 553 (D.Del. 1980).

Plaintiffs' complaint asserts that "[t]he identities of all class members are ascertainable

from the records of FOCUS and those entities on whose behalf it attempt to collects debts."

Compl. ~ 74. Thus, it is also appropriate for the Court to consider the accompanying Koepke
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Affidavit regarding the potential size of the class, because a court may consider facts subject to

judicial notice, including documents a defendant attaches to its motion papers if the documents

are integral to plaintiffs claim. See Kent v. Tabafunda, 2008 WL 2510723, *3 (D.N.J. June 18,

2008) (A document integral to plaintiffs claim may be considered without converting the motion

into one for summary judgment).

POINT II

Plaintiffs' FDCPA Claims Should Be Dismissed as to the Proposed Class
Because They Cannot Satisfy Rule 23(b)(3)'s Superiority Requirement

Plaintiffs' complaint demonstrates that plaintiffs will not be able to satisfy the elements

required to move this matter forward as a class action. Specifically, plaintiffs will be unable to

satisfy the superiority requirement of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(3), because any

prospective relief would be de minimis in light of the damages for individual suits authorized by

the FDCPA. Accordingly, the complaint should be dismissed as to the proposed class.

The complaint seeks class action relief for alleged violations of the FDCPA protections

found at 15 U.S.C. § 1692d(6) and 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(II). Section 1692e(ll) provides that the

following conduct is a violation of the FDCPA:

The failure to disclose in the initial written communication with the consumer
and, in addition, if the initial communication with the consumer is oral, in that
initial oral communication, that the debt collector is attempting to collect a debt
and that any information obtained will be used for that purpose, and the failure to
disclose in subsequent communications that the communication is from a debt
collector, except that this paragraph shall not apply to a formal pleading made in
connection with a legal action.

15 U.S.c. § 1692d(6) prohibits debt collectors from the placing telephone calls without

"meaningful disclosure" of the caller's identity. A debt collector who violates the FDCPA is

liable to a plaintiff for statutory damages in an amount not to exceed $1,000. 15 U.S.C. §
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1692k(a)(2)(A). Importantly, the FDCPA also limits damages in class actions to "the lesser of

$500,000 or 1 per centum of the net worth of the debt collector." 15 U.S.c. § 1692k(a)(2)(B).

Plaintiffs propose a nationwide class of consumers who have received calls from Focus

that allegedly violate the FDCPA. Plaintiffs readily acknowledge that such a class would be

quite large. Plaintiffs' complaint contends that Focus left "at least thousands" of similar

messages with consumers throughout the country. Compi. ~ 71. In actuality, the potential size

of the class is over 2 million, and even if we conservatively cut it in half, it is still well over 1

million class members. Koepke Aff., ~ 3-4.

Given the likely size of a national class of over 1 million, the FDCPA's "cap" on class

damages renders this matter inappropriate for adjudication as a class action. Allowing this

matter to run its course as a class action would essentially ensure that the recovery of class

members would be de minimis. Indeed, several courts have determined that FDCPA claims

cannot proceed as representative actions precisely because such an action results in de minimis

recovery for each class member and thereby fails to satisfy Rule 23(b)(3)'s superiority

requirement.

If the party seeking class certification cannot establish anyone of Rule 23's requirements

for class certification, the case may not continue as a class action. Jones v. Roy, 202 F.R.D. 658,

662 (M.D. Ala. 2001). Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a), which governs the prerequisites to

a class action, requires plaintiffs to satisfy the elements of numerosity, commonality, typicality,

and adequacy of representation. Amchem Prods. Inc. v. Windsor, 521 U.S. 591, 613 (1997);

Johnston v. HBO Film Mgmt., Inc., 265 F.3d 178,183 (3d Cir. 2001). If those requirements are

satisfied, the Court must then find that the lawsuit is maintainable as a class action under one of

the three provisions of Rule 23(b). Johnston, 265 F.3d at 184. For purposes of class
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certification, these plaintiffs must proceed under Rule 23(b)(3) because the other provisions of

Rule 23(b) do not apply to their claims.

Rule 23(b)(1) authorizes class actions where "prosecuting separate actions by or against

individual class members would create a risk of: (A) inconsistent or varying adjudications with

respect to individual class members that would establish incompatible standards of conduct for

the party opposing the class; or (B) adjudications with respect to individual class members that,

as a practical matter, would be dispositive of the interests of the other members not parties to the

individual adjudications or would substantially impair or impede their ability to protect their

interests." There is no such risk here, as plaintiffs' actions may be maintained as an individual

suit without implicating the interests of the other members of the proposed class. Moreover, an

individual suit will have no bearing on Focus' conduct, because plaintiffs are precluded from

seeking declaratory or injunctive relief under the FDCPA. See Weiss v. Regal Collections, 385

F.3d 337, 341 (3d Cir. 2004) (The FDCPA "contains no express provision for injunctive or

declaratory relief in private actions."); Smith v. Lyons, Doughty & Veldhuius, P.c., 2008 U.S.

Dist. LEXIS 56725, 2008 WL 2885887, at *9 (D.N.J. Jul 23, 2008) (dismissing class claim

because injunctive and declaratory relief is not available under the FDCPA).3

Rule 23(b)(2) applies where "the party opposing the class has acted or refused to act on

grounds that apply generally to the class, so that final injunctive relief or corresponding

declaratory relief is appropriate respecting the class as a whole." Plaintiffs have not alleged, and

have no factual basis to allege, that Focus "has acted or refused to act on grounds that apply

3 Plaintiffs' request for declaratory relief in their prayer for relief, paragraph 89(c), is subject to
dismissal, independent of the other, substantive reasons for dismissal, of the individual and class
based claims.
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generally to the class." Even if plaintiffs could establish such a factual basis, injunctive and

declaratory relief is not available under the FDCPA. Weiss, 385 F.3d at 341.

Plaintiffs must proceed under Rule 23(b)(3), which provides that "[a] class action may be

maintained if Rule 23(a) is satisfied and if...the court finds that the questions of law or fact

common to class members predominate over any questions affecting only individual members,

and that a class action is superior to other available methods for fairly and efficiently

adjudicating the controversy." Plaintiffs, however, cannot meet their burden under Rule

23(b)(3), because a representative action is not the superior method for adjudicating this

controversy.

In Sonmore v. CheckRite Recovery Services, 206 F.R.D. 257, 265 (D. Minn. 2001), the

court refused to certify the proposed class of 20,000 individuals under the FDCPA, finding that

the pursuit of individualized claims in separate proceedings was superior to a class action:

The FDCPA's cap on class action damages, combined with the large number of
putative class members, causes an unacceptably large discrepancy in the amount
of available damages. By certifying the class, the court would ensure a de
minimis monetary recovery for class members, which constitutes a substantial
reduction in what class members may otherwise be entitled by pursuing their
claims individually. Because plaintiffs pursing an action individually are eligible
to recover a maximum of $1,000, while absent class members in this case are
eligible for a maximum of merely twenty-five dollars, the Court finds that the
interest of class members in individually controlling the prosecution of their
claims prevails over any efficiency objectives that may be achieved through
management of the litigation as a class action.

Id. at 265-266 (internal citation omitted). See also Lyles v. Rosenfeld Attorney Network, 2000

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 8543, 2000 WL 798824, *6 (N.D.Miss. May 17, 2000) (denying class

certification because FDCPA class action would result in de minimis recovery and thus fail to

satisfy superiority requirement); Gradisher v. Check Enforcement Unit, Inc., 209 F.R.D. 392,

394 (W.D. Mich. 2002) (same); Jones v. CBE Group, Inc., 215 F.R.D. 558, 570 (D. Minn. 2003)
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(same); Lewis v. Riddle, 1998 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20465, at *19-*26 (W.D. La. Nov. 18, 1998)

(court denied class certification of FDCPA claim based in part on finding that class action was

not the superior means due to potential de minimis recovery where class members would likely

receive greater recovery in individual suits); Leyse v. Corporate Collection Services, 2006 U.S.

Dist. LEXIS 67719, at *25 n.5 (S.D.N.Y. Sept 18, 2006) (plaintiff also failed to establish that

class action was the superior method of adjudication because of the de minimis recovery for class

members). But see Mace v. Van Ru Credit Corp., 109 F.3d 338, 344 (7th Cir. 1997) (neither

Rule 23 nor the FDCPA require more than de minimis recovery per class member in order for a

suit to go forward); Macarz v. Transworld Sys., 193 F.R.D. 46, 55 (D. Conn. 2000) (same).

Proposed classes in FDCPA matters that are comprised of thousands of class members

have been denied class certification. See Sonmore, 206 F.R.D. at 261 (20,000 persons is the

estimated size of the proposed class); Lyles, 2000 WL 798824, *3 (proposed class of 26,767).

Given the scope and nature of Focus' business and plaintiffs' assertion of a nationwide class

action, even a one-year time frame would mean a class of over 1 million people. Indeed,

plaintiffs' allegations acknowledge as such, in that plaintiffs' complaint contends that Focus left

"at least thousands" of similar messages with consumers throughout the country. CompI. ~ 71.

Even if we use (for illustrative purposes only for this motion) the FDCPA's maximum

$500,000 cap, any recovery would be de minimus and not the most superior method of

proceeding. In other words, the class action vehicle serves to limit, not maximize, the potential

recovery available to each class member. For example, a class of 20,000 would receive $25

each. A class of 50,000 would receive $10 each. A class of 100,000 would receive $5 each. A

class of 1 million would receive 50 cents. In any conceivable scenario, class members will

recover a mere fraction of the statutory damages of $1,000 provided for by 15 U.S.c. §
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1692k(a)(2)(A). This resulting de minimis recovery renders this matter inappropriate for class

treatment because it is not the superior method for adjudicating this controversy.

In Jones, the court noted that FDCPA claims are distinguishable from other small-amount

claims in that the FDCPA provides for statutory damages and attorney's fees, so that there would

be no lack of incentive for plaintiffs to pursue individual actions. 215 F.R.D. at 570.

Importantly, dismissal of the class action here will not result in the inability to bring individual

suits. See Barkouras v. Hecker, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 88998, at *11-12 (D.N.J. Dec. 8,2006).

In short, a class action is not the superior method of resolving the claims.

Accordingly, the complaint should be dismissed as to the proposed class.

POINT III

Plaintiffs Fail to State Claims for Relief Individually and as to
the Proposed Class Because the Messages Do Not Constitute
"Communications" for Purposes of the Act

Moreover, the messages cited by plaintiffs as violative of the FDCPA do not constitute

"communications" for purposes of the Act, and, therefore, plaintiffs fail to state individual and

class action claims for relief under the FDCPA.

The FDCPA defines a communication as "the conveying of information regarding the

debt directly or indirectly to any person through any medium." 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(2). Some

courts, relying on the plain language of Section 1692a(2), have dismissed claims alleging

violations of the FDCPA's disclosure requirements where the voicemail messages at issue did

not convey any information regarding the debt. See,~, Biggs v. Credit Collections, Inc., No.

CIV-07-0053-F, 2007 WL 4034997 (W.D.Okla. Nov. 15,2007). See also Horkey v. J.V.D.E. &

Assocs., 179 F. Supp. 2d 861, 868 (N.D.Ill. 2002) (a debt collector asking plaintiff's co-worker

to speak to plaintiff did not constitute a "communication" under the FDCPA); Francis v. GMAC
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Mortgage, No. 06-CV-157877- DT, 2007 WL 1648884 (E.D. Mich. June 6, 2007) (two letters

sent to the plaintiff by the defendant debt collector did not constitute "communications" for

purposes of the FDCPA, because the the letters were, on their face, in the nature of a customer

service communication, rather than a debt collection demand). But see Foti v. NCO Fin. Sys.,

424 F.Supp.2d 643 (S.D.N.Y.2006); Costa v. Nat'l Action Fin. Serv., No. CIV. S-05-2084, 2007

WL 4526510 (E.D.CaL Dec. 19, 2007); Belin v. Litton Loan Servicing, LP, No. 8:06 CV 760,

2006 WL 1992410 (M.D.Fla. July 14, 2006); Hosseinzadeh v. M.R.S. Assocs., Inc., 387

F.Supp.2d 1104 (C.D.CaL2005).4

In Biggs, the court determined that a message that did not refer to the fact of the debt and

did not identify the caller as a debt collector could not be considered a communication under 15

U.S.C. § 1692a(2). Biggs, 2007 WL 4034997, at *4. The court explained:

Decisions cited in the parties' briefs from a variety of courts conclude that voice
mail messages constitute "communications" for purposes of § 1692e. However,
that is not the end of the matter, as to the voice-mail messages in question here.
Words matter-in this instance, the words of the voice mails and the words of the
statutory definition of a "communication." The transcript of the voice mail
messages demonstrates that the voice mails "convey[ed]" no "information
regarding a debt." No amount of liberal construction can broaden the statutory
language to encompass the words recorded in these voice mails.

Id. The court in Biggs recognized that 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(2) is crystal clear and the statutory

definition purposefully limited in its scope. A voicemail message that does not "convey

information" regarding the debt does not meet the FDCPA's definition of "communication."

The FDCPA defines a communication as "the conveying of information regarding the

debt directly or indirectly to any person through any medium." If Congress had intended a broad

4 Although these cases are contrary to Biggs, Horkey, and Francis, no reported decisions
addressing this issue have been rendered by the Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit or a court
in the District ofNew Jersey.
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definition for "communication" under the FDCPA, it would have defined a communication as

"the conveying of information in connection with a debt collector's efforts to collect a debt" or

language with a similarly broader scope. The plain language of the FDCPA demonstrates that

messages like those at issue here should not be reached by the Act. Indeed, the court in Francis

refused to "accept the proposition that all 'communications' sent by a debt collector to a

consumer must contain the notices specified by § 1692e(11)." Francis, 2007 WL 1648884 at *2.

Here, plaintiffs seek relief for messages that do not constitute "communications" under

the FDCPA. They allege that the messages left on their voicemail services stated the following:

Hello, please contact Julie Lewis at 866-918-2469 regarding a personal business
matter. Again, that number is 866-918-2469. Thank you.

This message is for -- Bruce Huffman. This is Miss Mack, I am requesting a call
back from you today. You can contact my office toll-free, 1-888-379-9266; my
direct extension is 2001. Again, it is imperative that you do contact my office
today. This is not a sales or solicitation call, contact my office, 1-888-379-9266.

Please contact Jane Cross at 1-877-623-6287 between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and
9:00 p.m. Monday through Thursday, and 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on Fridays.
Thank you.

Please call AsWey Boyle at 1-877-623-6287. Once again, my number is 1-877
623-6287. Thank you.

Please contact the Office of Raymond Edge regarding a personal business matter.
That toll-free number is 1-877-623-6287. Once again, 877-623-6287. Thank you.

Please contact the office of Michelle Murray. I can be reached at 1-800-514-4778.
This is regarding an important business matter. Again, contact my office at 1-800
514-4778. Thank you.

Garcia at 1-800-514-4778. Once again, the number is 1-800-514-4778. Thank
you.

Hi, I'm trying to get in touch with Jonathan Supler. John, this is Nicole Dorbey. If
you can please give me a call back at 1-866-913-2236, extension 274. Thank you.
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See CompI. ~ 29; CompI. ~ 37; CompI. ~~ 46-48; CompI. ~~ 55-58. These messages are nearly

identical to those at issue in Biggs, in that these messages do not convey any information

regarding the debt directly or indirectly and thus do not qualify as "communications" for

purposes of the FDCPA. None of these messages mention the word "debt." None of these

messages refer to a "debt collector" or efforts to collect a "debt." The messages do not even

provide a reference number for the debt and do not threaten or suggest further action in

connection with collection activities. These messages simply do not convey any information

regarding the debt. No fair reading of the messages can conclude otherwise.

Importantly, these benign voice messages are the safest way for the debt collector to

ensure that it is not potentially violating other sections of the FDCPA, that prohibit disclosure of

the debt to third-parties, see 15 U.S.C. § 1692c(b), and state privacy and consumer protection

laws that vary from state to state and that may also prohibit the disclosure of debt to third-parties.

See, M,., Cal. Civ. Code § 1788.12; Fla. Stat. § 559.72; Minn. Stat. § 332.37; Mass. Gen. Laws

ch. 93, § 49.

Because it is clear that plaintiffs have failed to allege a legally cognizable claim in their

own right, they clearly lack standing to continue this action on behalf of the class. Rule 23(a)(3)

authorizes a class action only if "the claims or defenses of the representative parties are typical of

the claims or defenses of the class." Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)(3). Plaintiffs' complaint fails to make

out viable individual claims for relief under the FDCPA. Thus, the representative action must

fail for lack of typicality. See La Mar v. H & B Novelty & Loan Company, 489 F.2d 461 (9th

Cir. 1973) (Rule 23(a)(3) typicality requirement not satisfied where plaintiff failed to state an

individual claim for relief).

Accordingly, plaintiffs' complaint should be dismissed in its entirety.

- 18 -



Case 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD     Document 5-2      Filed 10/07/2009     Page 24 of 25

POINT IV

Plaintiffs Do Not Sufficiently Plead A Violation of the FDCPA's Disclosure
Requirements Under Sections 1692e(1l) and 1692d(6)

Plaintiffs' complaint fails to plead fundamental allegations necessary to establish their

entitlement to relief. Specifically, nowhere do they allege the simple fact of whether any of the

plaintiffs had contact with Focus prior to receiving the messages. This omission is important

because courts have determined that the factual context of the contact between the debt collector

and debtor prescribes the contours of the FDCPA's reach.

Plaintiffs do not make out any allegations going to whether there was any prior contact

between Focus and any of the plaintiffs. Plaintiffs never allege whether the messages at issue

were attempts to initiate collection efforts or a continuation of prior collection efforts.

Courts have determined that the "context" of a given contact can determine whether the

FDCPA's disclosure requirements have been violated. See Dikeman v. National Educators, Inc.,

81 F.3d 949,954 (lOth Cir. 1996) ("context" and "situation" considered in determining whether

§1692e(ll) was violated; communications were with an attorney representing a consumer;

disclosure to the attorney that the debt collector was attempting to collect a debt, and that

information obtained would be used for that purpose, would have been "a pointless formality"

and was not required by §1692e(II)); Ignatowski v. GC Servs., 3 F.Supp.2d 187, 189-190 (D.

Conn. 1990) (same); Foti, 424 F. Supp. 2d at 670 (no violation with respect to January 26 call

returned by a consumer to a debt collector in which the debt collector never explicitly stated he

was a debt collector, but in which it was clear from the entirety of the conversation that even the

least sophisticated consumer would have understood the call concerned collection of a debt).

Plaintiffs' complaint does not establish their entitlement to relief, because plaintiffs never

- 19 -
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provide the context of their contact with Focus. By neglecting to advance fundamental

allegations going to the context of the messages at issue, plaintiffs have failed to sufficiently

plead a violation of the FDCPA's disclosure requirements.

Accordingly, plaintiffs' complaint should be dismissed in its entirety.

CONCLUSION

Plaintiffs' complaint fails to state any cause of action upon which relief can be granted.

As such, the Court should grant the Rule 12(b)(6) motion of defendant Focus Receivables

Management and dismiss the entire action with prejudice.

Dated: October 7, 2009
Short Hills, New Jersey

Respectfully submitted,

~~-

~A. Pallotto
Jason T. Watson
BUDD LARNER, P.C.
Attorneys for Defendant
Focus Receivables Management

722868w
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Virginia A. Pallotto
BUDD LARNER, P.C.
150 J. F. Kennedy Parkway, 3rd floor
Short Hills, New Jersey 07078-2703
973-379-4800
973-379-7734 facsimile
vpallotto@budd-Iarner.com
Attorneys for Defendant
FOCUS RECEIVABLES MANAGEMENT, LLC

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

DOLORES KRUG, et aI,

Plaintiffs,

- against-

FOCUS RECEIVABLES MANAGEMENT,
LLC, et al

Defendants.

STATE OF NEW JERSEY
: ss.

COUNTY OF ESSEX

Civil Action No.: 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD

AFFIDAVIT OF
VIRGINIA A. PALLOTTO

I, VIRGINIA A. PALLOTTO, of full age, being duly sworn upon his oath, according to

law, deposes and says:

1. I am a shareholder of the law firm of Budd Lamer, P.C., attorneys for

Defendant, Focus Receivables Management, LLC ("Focus"), in this case.

2. I submit this Affidavit on behalf of Focus in support of its Motion to

Dismiss the Complaint.
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3. Attached hereto as Exhibit 1 is a true and correct copy of the plaintiffs

Complaint filed on August 21, 2009.

to before me this

OfOctoTflbr,.

- £) ~v. -( t 0/(,1/

OTARY PUBLIC

SHONA L. SIMONS
Notary Public of New Jersey

Commission Expires 4/27/2010

723140w
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Wacks & Hartmann, LLC
AttorneyS at Law
SS Madison Avenue, Suile 320A
Morristown, NJ 07960-7397
Telephone: (973) 64+0770
Attorney of Record: Philip D. Stem
Attorneys for Plaintiffs, Dolores Kntg, Bruce
Huffman, Donald Marso, Jonathan 5.upler, and
all others similarly situated

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

DOLORES KRUG, an individual;
BRUCE HUFFMAN, an individual; and
DONALD MARSO, an individual;
lONATHAN SUPLER, an individual;
on behalf of themselves and all others
similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

FOCUS RECEIVABLES
MANAGEMENT, LLC, a Georgia
Limited Liability Company; and JOHN
AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1
THROUGH 50,

Defendants.

Case No.: _

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs, DOLORES M. KRUG, BRUCE HUFFMAN, DONALD

MARSO, and lONATHAN SUPLER, on behalf of themselves and all those

similarly situated, by way of this Class Action Complaint against Defendants, say:

Page 1of 19
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l. PARTIES

1. KRUG is a naturaL person.

2. At all times relev~nt to this complaint, KRUG was a citizen of, and

resided in, the Township of Millville, CumberJand County, New Jersey.

3. HUFFMAN is a natural person.

4. At all times relev3nt to this complaint, HUFFMAN was a citizen of,

and resided in, the City of Advance, Stoddard County, Missouri.

5. MARSO is a natural person.

6. At all times relevant to this complaint, MARSO was a citizen of, and

resided in, the City of Monona. Dane Cmmty, Wisconsin.

7. SUPLER is a natural person.

8. At all times relevant to this complaint, SUPLER was a citizen of, and

resided in, the City of Raleigh, Wake County. North Carolina.

9. At all times relevant to this complaint, FOCUS RECEIVABLES

MANAGEMENT, LLC is a f(>r-profit timited liability company existing pursuant

to the laws of the State of Georgia. Based on infonnation and belief, FOCUS

maintains its principal busine:.s address at J) 30 Northchase Parkway, Suite 150,

City of Marietta, ,Cobb County, Georgia.

)O. Defendants, JOHN AND JANE DOES NUMBERS I THROUGH 50,

are sued under fictitious name:i as their true names and capacities are yet unknown

Page 2 of 19
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to Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs will amend this complaint by inserting the true names and

capacities of these DOE defendants once they are ascertained.

11. Plaintiffs are infonned and believe, and on that basis allege, that

Defendants, JOHN AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1 THROUGH 50, are natural

persons and/or business entitie!; all of whom reside or are located within the United

States who personally created, instituted and, with knowledge that such practices

were contrary to law, acted consistent with and oversaw policies and procedures

used by the employees of FOCUS that are the subject of this complaint Those

Defendants personally control the illegal acts, policies, and practices utilized by

FOCUS and, therefore, are personally liable for all of the wrongdoing alleged in

this Complaint.

II. J1.JRlSDICTIO~~ & VE~UI

12. Jurisdiction of this Court arise; under 15 U.S.C. §1692k(d) and 28

U.S.C. §1331.

13. Declaratory relief is available pursuant to under 28 U. S.C. §§220),

2202.

14. Venue is appropJ;ate in this fo:deral district pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§1391(b) because a substantial part of the ~vents giving rise to KRUG's claims

occurred within this federal judicial distric~ and because the Defendant, FOCUS,

is subject to personal jurisdiction in the Statl: of New Jersey at the time this action

Page 3 of 19



Case 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD     Document 5-3      Filed 10/07/2009     Page 7 of 22

Case 1:09-cv-0431 Q-JEI-AMD Document 1 Filed 08121/2009 Page 4 of 19

is commenced.

15. HUFFMAN, MARSO, and SUPLER join their claims with KRUG

pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 20(a)(1) becaus.;: those claims are with respect to or

arise out of the same occurrence or series of transactions or occurrences as

KRUG's claims, and a question oflaw or fact is common to all Plaintiffs.

III. PRJl:LIMINARY SIATJ:MENT

16. Plaintiffs, on their own behalf and on behalf of the class they seek to

represent, bring this action for the illegal practices of the Defendants who used

false, deceptive and misleading practices, and other illegal practices, in connection

with their attempts to collect alleged debts from the Plaintiffs and others.

17. Plaintiffs allege t.'1at the Defendants' collection practices violate the

Fair Debt Collection Practice~; Act, 15 U.S.C. §§1692 e/ seq. ("FDCPA"). Such

practices include, inter alia:

(a) Leaving telephon:c voice messages for Consumers and others, which

fail to provide meaningful disclosure of FOCUS's identity;

(b) Leaving telephonic voice messages for consumers, which fail to

disclose that the call is from a dt:bt collector; and

(c) Leaving .telephor,ic voice me~sages for consumers, which fail to

disclose the purp()se or nature o::~ the communication (Le. an attempt to

collect a debt).

Page 4 of 19
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18. The FDCPA regulates the behavior of collection agencies attempting

to collect a debt on behalf of another. The United States Congress found abundant

evidence of the use of abusive, deceptive, and unfair debt collection practices by

many debt colJectors, and has detennined that abusive debt collection practices

contribute to a number of per:mnal bankruptcies, marital instability, loss of jobs,

and invasions of individual privacy. CongNss enacted the FDCPA to eliminate

abusive debt collection practices by debt l;ollectors, to ensure that those debt

collectors who refrain from using abusive debt collection practices are not

competitively disadvantaged, and to promote unifonn State action to protect

consumers against debt coJlection abuses. )5 U.S.C. §) 692(a) - (e).

19. The FDCPA is a strict liability statute which provides for actual or

statutory damages upon the showing of one violation. The Third Circuit has held

that whether a debt collector's conduct violates the FDCPA should be judged from

the standpoint of the "least sophisticated consumer." Graziano v. Ha"tson, 950

F.2d 107, 1I I, fn5 (3d Cir. 1991).

20. To prohibit harassment and abw.e by debt collectors the FDCPA, at 15

U.S.C. §1692d, provides that a debt collector may not engage in any conduct the

natural consequence of which is to harass, oppress, or abuse any person in

connection with the collection of a debt and enumerates a non-exhaustive list of

such conduct which is deemed to violate that section. 15 U.S.C. §1692d(l )-(6). In

Page 5 of 19
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that list is the placement of telephone calls without meaningful disclosure of the

caller's identity. 15 U.S.C. §1692d(6).

21. To prohibit deceptive practices, the FDCPA, at IS U.S.C. §1692e,

provides that a debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading

representation or means in ,;onnection with the collection of any debt and

enumerates a acts and omissions which are deemed to violate that section. 15

U.S.C. §1692e(I)-(16). In that list is the failure by debt collectors to disclose, in

initial oral communications, that the debt cc,lIector is attempting to collect a debt

and that any infonnation obtained will be u8J;:d for that purpose and, in subsequent

communications, that the communicationl~ from a debt collector. 15 U.S.C.

§1692e(11).

22. The Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly

situated, seek certification of this action as a class action, statutory damages

pursuant to the FDCPA, attorney fees, costs, declaratory judgment and all other

relief, equitable or legal in nanJre, as deemed appropriate by this Court.

IV. FAC.TS CONCERNING KRUG

23. Sometime prior to March 2008, KRUG allegedly incurred a financial

obligation ("Krug Obligation").

24. The Krug Obliga:ion arises out of a transaction in which the money,

property, insurance, or services which afl~ the subject of the transaction are

Page 6 of 1.9
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primarily for personal, family, or household purposes.

25. FOCUS contends that the Krug Obligation is in default.

26. The Krug Obligation is a "debt" as defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(5).

27. KRUG is, at all ti::nes relevant to this complaint, a "consumer" as that

term is defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(3).

28. KRUG is infomed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that

sometime prior to March 2oo~., the creditor of the Krug Obligation either directly

or through intermediate transa.;tions assigned, placed, transferred, or sold the debt

to FOCUS for collection.

29. On August 21, 2{))8, September 14, 2008, and September 23, 2008 (as

well as on June 6, 2008, June )2, 2008, JU:.1e )8, 2008, June 21, 2008, June 30,

2008), FOCUS left KRUG the following pre-recorded message on her home

answering machine:

Hello, please contact Julie Lewis at 866-918-2469
regarding a personal business matter. Again, that number
is 866-918-2469. Thank you.

30. Each of the m~sages convC}ed information regarding a debt to

KRUG.

v. FACTS CONCERNING HUFFMAN

3 I. Sometime prior to September 2008, HUFFMAN allegedly incurred a

financial obligation ("Huffman Obligation").

Page 7 of ]9
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32. The Huffman Obligation arises out of a transaction in which the

moneys property, insurances or services whic:, are the subject of the transaction are

primarily for personal, family, or household purposes.

33. FOCUS contends that the Huffman Obligation is in default.

34. The Huffman Obligation is a '~debt" as defined by 15 U.S.C.

§1692a(5).

35. HUFFMAN is, at all times relevant to this complaint, a "consumeru as

that term is defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(3).

36. HUFFMAN is informed and btlieve8, and on that basis alleges, that

sometime prior to September 2008, the creditor of the Huffman Obligation either

directly or through intennediate transactions assigned, placed, transferred, or sold

the debt to FOCUS for coJlection.

37. On multiple dates in or about September 2008, FOCUS left

HUFFMAN the following pre-recorded message on his home answering machine:

This message is for -- Bruce Huffman. This is Miss
Mack, I am requesting a call back from you today. You
can contact my office toll-free, 1-888-379-9266; my
direct extension i:I 2001. Again~ it is imperative that you
do contact my l)ffice today. This is not a sales or
solicitation call, c(mtact my offie;e, 1-888-379-9266.

38. On multiple dates in or about September 2008, FOCUS left

HUFFMAN the fonowing pre-recorded message on his home answering machine:

Hi, this is Chris Smith, calling regarding a personal

Page 8 of 19
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business maner. Please return r.1Y call at 877-623-6287.
Once again, please can Chris Smith at 877-623-6287.
Thank you.

39. Each of the messages conveyed infonnation regarding a debt to

HUFFMAN.

VI. FACTS CONCERNING MABSO

40. Sometime prior to January 2009, MARSO allegedly incurred a

financial obligation ("Marso Obligation").

4) . The Marso Obligation arises out of a transaction in which the money,

property, insurance, or servi.;es which arc the subject of the transaction are

primarily for persona~ family, or household purposes.

42. FOCUS contends that the Marse. Obligation is in default.

43. The Marso Obliguion is a "debt" as defined by 15 U.S.C. § I692a(5).

44. MARSO is, at at times relevant to this complaint, a "consumer' as

that tenn is defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(3).

45. MARSO is informed and be1i~ves, and on that basis alleges, that

sometime prior to January 2009, the creditor of the Marso Obligation either

directly or through intennediate transaction!- assigned, placed, transferred, or sold

the debt to FOCUS for collection.

46. On January 15, 2009, January 20, 2009, January 21, 2009, January 22,

2009, January 23, 2009, January 25, 2009, January 26, 2009, January 27, 2009,

Page 9 of J9
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FOCUS left MARSO the following pre-recorded message on his home answering

machine:

Please contact Jane Cross at 1-8'77-623-6287 between the
hours of 8:00 a.m. and 9:00 p.m. Monday through
Thursday, and 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p,m. on Fridays. Thank
you.

47. On February 4, 2009, FOCUS left MARSO the following pre-

recorded message on his home answering machine:

Please call Ashley Boyle at 1-877-623-6287. Once again,
my number is 1-877-623-6287. Thank you.

48. On February 25, 2009, FOCUS left MARSO the following pre-

recorded message on his home answering machine:

Please contact th<: Office of Raymond Edge regarding a
personal business matter. That toll-free number is 1-877
623-6287. Once again, 877-623-6287. Thank you.

Ylb.l.ACTS CQNCERNItIG SUlLER

49. Sometime prior te· April 2009, SUPLER allegedly incurred a financial

obligation ("Supler Obligation''),

50. The Supler ObJiglltion arises out of a transaction in which the money,

property, insurance, or servi,::es which arc the subject of the transaction are

primarily for personal, family, or household purposes.

51. FOCUS contends that the Suplcr Obligation is in default.

52. The Supler Obligation is a "debt" as defined by 15 U.S.C. §} 692a(5),

Page I0 0:' 19
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53. SUPLER is, at an times relevant to this comp)ain~ a "consumer" as

that tenn is defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692a(3).

54. SUPLER is informed and belbves, and on that basis alleges, that

sometime prior to April 2009, the creditor of the Supler Obligation either directly

or through intermediate transa.;tions assigned, placed, transferred, or sold the debt

to FOCUS for collection.

55. On or about April )2, 2009, FOCUS left SUPLER the following pre-

recorded message on his home answering machine:

This is Brad Smith, please return my call at 1-866-913
2236; my direct e:dension is 241.

56. On or about April 12, 2009, FOCUS left SUPLER the following pre-

recorded message on his home answering machine:

Please contact tJ1.3 office of Michelle Murray. I can be
reached at 1-800-514-4778. This is regarding an
important business matter. Again, contact my office at 1
800-514-4778. Thank you.

57. On multiple occa:~ions or about June 26, 2009, FOCUS left SUPLER

the following pre-recorded me:isage on his home answering machine:

Garcia at 1-800-514-4778. Once again, the number is 1
800-514-4778. nJank you.

58. On or about June 26, 2009, FOCUS left SUPLER the follOWing live

message on his home answerir..g machine:

Hi, I'm trying to get in touch with Jonathan Suplcr. John,

Page 11 of 19
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this is Nicole Dorbey. If you can please give me a call
back at 1-866-913-2236, extension 274. Thank you.

VIII. FACTS COMMON TO ALL PLAINTIFFS

59. FOCUS collects and attempts to coIlect debts incurred, or alleged to

have been incurred, for personal, family, or household purposes on behalf of

creditors using the U.S. Mail, telephone, and Internet.

60. FOCUS is a "debt collector" as defined by IS U.S.C. §1692a(6).

61. Within the one year immediately preceding the filing of this

complaint, FOCUS placed tel(~phone calls to each of the Plaintiffs and left "live"

and pre-recorded telephonic ¥ oice messages on their home telephone answering

machines.

62. Each message conveyed information regarding a debt to KRUG,

HUFFMAN, MARSO. and SUPLER.

63. Each message' i:1 a "commwlicationtl as defined by 1S U.S.C.

§1692a(2).

64. Each message was left by, or caused to be left by, persons employed

by FOCUS.

65. Each message failed to disclose the purpose or nature of the

communication (i.e., an attempt to collect a debt).

66. Each message failed to identify FOCUS by name as the caller.

67. Each message failed to djsclosl~ that the communication was from a

Page 12 of 19
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debt colJector.

68. Each message is false, deceptive, and misleading in that the natural

consequence of these communications is to harass, oppress, or abuse the least

sophisticated consumer and other persons in '/iolation of the FDCPA.

69. Each message is false, deceptive, and misleading insofar as FOCUS

failed to give meaningful disclosure of its identity, disclose the purpose of its call,

or disclose that FOCUS is a debt collector, thereby c~rcumventing Congress's

intent to permit the Plaintiff~ to make an informed decision as to whether he

wished to speak with a debt collector.

IX. POLI~IES AND PRACTICES COMPLAINED OF

70. It is Defendants' policy and practice to leave telephonic voice

messages for consumers and (Ither persons, such as the messages, that violate the

FDCPA by uniformly failing to:

(a) Provide meaningful disclosure of FOCUS's identity as the caller;

(b) Disclose the purpose or nature of the communication (namely, an

attempt to conect a debt); and

(c) Disclose that the communication was from a debt collector.

71. On infonnation and belief, the messages, as alleged in this complaint

under the Facts Common to All Plaintiffs, number at Jeast in the thousands.

Page 13 of 19
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X. CLASS ALLEGATI9~

72. This action is brolJght as a class action. Plaintiffs bring this action on

behalf of themselves and on ""half of all other persons similarly situated pursuant

to Rule 23 of the Federal Rule~ of Civil Procedure.

73. The Plaintiff Clas:i consists of all persons with addresses in the United

States of America who received a telephonic voice message from FOCUS during a

telephone call placed by after ·Jne-year immediately preceding the commencement

of this civil action up through and including the date of preliminary class

certification, which message failed to meaningfully identify FOCUS as the caller, ,

state the purpose or nature of the call, or disclose that the call was from a debt

conector.

74. The identities of all class members are ascertainable from the records

of FOCUS and those entities 0'0 whose behalf it attempt to collects debts.

75. Excluded from th: Plaintiff Class are the Defendants and all officers,

members, partners, managers, directors, and employees of FOCUS and their

respective immediate families, and legal counsel for all parties to this action and all

members of their immediate families.

76. The class period is one year prbr to the filing of the initial complaint

in this action and continues up to and induding the date of preliminary class

certification.

Page 14 of 19
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77. There are questions of law and fact common to the Plaintiff Class,

which common issues predominate over any issues involving only individual class

members. Those principal issues are: whether the Defendants' telephonic voice

messages, such as the messages, violate 15 U.S.C. §§1692d(6) and 1692e(11).

78. The Plaintiffs' claims are typie;al of the class members, as all are

based upon the same facts and legal theories.

79. The Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the

Plaintiff Class defined in this complaint.

80. The Plaintiffs ha'te retained cOl:.nsel whom they seek to be appointed

by the Court as class counsel.

8 J. Plaintiffs' counsel is experienced in handling consumer lawsuits,

complex litigation, and class adions, and has knowledge of the applicable law.

82. Neither the Plaintiffs nor their attorneys have any interests which

might cause them not to vigorously pursue this action.

83. This action has been brought, and may properly be maintained, as a

class action pursuant to the provisions of Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil

Procedure because there is a well-defined community interest in the litigation:

(a) Numerosity: The Plaintiffs ar·;: infonned and believe, and on that

basis allege, that the Plaintiff C:ass defined above is so numerous that

joinder of all members would be: impractical.

Page 15 of 19
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(b) Common Ouestion. Predomin..!!!l Common questions of law and

fact exist as to all members of the Plaintiff Class and those questions

predominate over any questionJ or issues involving only individual

class members. The principal issues are whether the Defendants'

telephonic voice ::nessages, such as the messages, violate 15 U.S.C.

§§ 1692d(6) and 1692e(11).

(c) Typicality; The Plaintiffs' claims are typical of the claims of the class

members. Plaintiffs and all members of the Plaintiff Class have claims

arising out of the Defendants' common uniform course of conduct

complained of herein.

(d) AdegWY; The Plaintiffs win fairly and adequately protect the

interests of the class members insofar as Plaintiffs have no interests

that are adverse to the absent class members. The Plaintiffs are

committed to vigorously litigating this matter. Plaintiffs have also

retained counsel experienced in handling consumer lawsuits, complex

legal issues, and class actions. Neither the Plaintiffs nor their counsel

have any interesl'i which might cause them not to vigorously pursue

the instant class a.:tion lawsuit.

(e) Supertor;itt&. A class action is superior to the other available means

for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy because

Page 16 of) 9
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individual joinder of all memben would be impracticable. Class

action treatment will pennit a large number of similarly situated

persons to prosecute their common claims in a single forum efficiently

and without unnecessary dup:.ication of effort and expense that

individual actions would engender. An important public interest will

be served by addressing the matter as a class action, substantial

expenses to the litigants and to the judicial system will be realized,

and the potential inconsistent or contradictory adjudications will be

avoided as contemplated by Rule 23(b)(l) of the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure.

84. Certification of a ;;Iass under Rule 23(b)(1)(A) of the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure is appropria~ because adjudications with respect to individual

members create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications which could

establish incompatible standards of conduc1 for FOCUS, which, on infonnation

and belief, collects debts throughout the United States of America.

85. Certification of a class under Rule 23(b)(2) of the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure is also approp;:'iate in that a detennination that messages vioJate 15

U.S.C. §1692d(6) and/or §1692e(1 J) is tan-:amount to declaratory relief and any

monetary reJief under the FDCPA would be merely incidental to that

determination.

Page 17 of 19
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86. Certification of a class under Rule 23(bX3) of the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure is also appropriate in that the questions of law and fact common to

members of the Plaintiff Class predominnte over any questions affecting an

individual member, and a class action is superior to other available methods for the

fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy.

Xl~ CAUSE OF ACIl2r1
VIOLATIONS OF THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT

(AGAINST ALL DF:FENDANTS)

87. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations in the

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint.

88. Defendants violated the FDCPA. Defendants' violations with respect

to the messages include, but are not limited to, the following:

(a) Placing telephone calls without providing meaningful disclosure of

FOCUS's identi~ as the caller in violation of 15 U.S.C. §1692d(6);

(b) Leaving telephon:c voice messa.ges which fail to disclose the purpose

or nature of the communication (namely, an attempt to collect a debt)

in violation of 15 U.S.C. §1692<1(6); and

(c) Failing to disclo~ in all oral communications that FOCUS is a "debt

collector" in violation of 15 U.S.C. §I692e(1 1).

XlI. j!RAYER FOR RELIEF

89. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs resp'~ctfu))y request that the Court enter

Page 18 of 19
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judgment in their favor and in favor of the Plaintiff Class as follows:

(a) Class Certtflcalio,'f. An order certifying that the First Cause of Action

may be maintained as a class pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules

of Civil Procedure and appointing Plaintiffs and the undersigned

counsel to represent the Plaintiff Class as previously set forth and

defined above.

(b) Statutory DamagE·s. An award etf the maximum "additional damages"

for Plaintiffs and the Plaintiff Class pursuant to 15 U.S.C.

§1692k(a)(2)(A) and (B);

(c) Declaratory Re/i~f. Declaratory relief, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§220I,

2202, adjudicating that FOCUS's messages violate the FDCPA;

(d) Counsel Fees and Costs. Attc·mey's fees, litigation expenses, and

costs pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1692k(a)(B)(3); and

(e) Other Relief For such other and further relief as may be just and

proper.

WACKS" HARTMANN, LLC

Dated: August 21, 2009 lsi Philip D. Stern
PHILIP D. STERN

Attorneys for Plaintiffs, DOLORES M. KRUG,
BRUCE HUFFMAN, and DONALD MARSO

and all others similarly situated

Page 19 of 19
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Virginia A. Pallotta, Esq.
BUDD LARNER, P.C.
150 John F. Kennedy Parkway, CN 1000
Short Hills, NJ 07078-2703
(973) 379-4800
Attorneys for Defendant,
Focus Receivables Management, LLC

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

DOLORES KRUG, an individual;
BRUCE HUFFMAN, an individual; and
DONALD MARSO, an individual;
JONATHAN SUPLER, an individual;
on behalfof themselves and all others
similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

v.

FOCUS RECEIVABLES
MANAGEMENT, LLC, a Georgia
Limited Liability Company; and JOHN
AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1
THROUGH 50,

Defendants.

STATE OF GEORGIA
: ss

COUNTY OF U&g

Civil Action No. 09-cv-04310

AFFIDAVIT OF STEVEN R. KOEPKE

I, STEVEN R. KOEPKE, of full age, being duly sworn upon his oath, according to law,

deposes and says:

1. I am the Director of Client Services & Corporate Compliance for the

Defendant, Focus Receivables Management, LLC ("Focus Receivables") in this case.

2. I submit this Affidavit on behalf of Focus Receivables in support of its

Motion to Dismiss the Complaint.
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3. In their complaint, Plaintiffs have requested a potential nationwide class

action for "all persons with addresses in the United States of America who received a telephonic

voice message from FOCUS during a telephone call place by after one-year immediately

'preceding the commencement of this civil action up through and including the date of

preliminary class certification, which message failed to meaningfully identify FOCUS as the

caller" state the purpose or nature of the call, or disclose that the call was from a debt collector."

CompI., ~73.

4. The complaint in this matter was filed on or about August 21, 2009, and

for the one-year period between August 21, 2008 and August 21,2009, Focus Receivables had

approximately 2,092,389 accounts nationwide; thus, there is a potential class size of some 2

million individuals. Although a voice message may not have been made for every account that

Focus Receivables had, even if we cut the number of accounts in half to 1,046,194, the potential

class size would still be very large.

~l/~
STEVEN R. KOEPKE

~o before me this

~----

2
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Virginia A. Pallotto
BUDD LARNER, P.C.
150 J. F. Kennedy Parkway, 3rd Floor
Short Hills, New Jersey 07078-2703
973-379-4800
973-379-7734 facsimile
vpallotto@budd-larner.com
Attorneys for Defendant
Focus Receivables Management, LLC

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

DOLORES KRUG, et aI,

Plaintiffs,

- against-

FOCUS RECEIVABLES MANAGEMENT,
LLC, et al

Defendants.

Civil Action No.: 1:09-cv-0431 O-JEI-AMD

ORDER

THIS MATTER having come before the Court upon the defendant Focus Receivables

Management, LLC's motion to dismiss pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6); the

Court having considered the motion and supporting documents, opposition papers, if any; and for

good cause shown,

IT IS on this day of , 2009

ORDERED that the defendant's motion to dismiss is granted; and it is further
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ORDERED that the Complaint is hereby dismissed in its entirety, including its proposed

class action, with prejudice.

Honorable Joseph E. Irenas, U.S. D.l

723177

- 2 -
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Virginia A. Pallotto 
BUDD LARNER, P.C. 
150 J. F. Kennedy Parkway, 3rd floor 
Short Hills, New Jersey 07078-2703 
973-379-4800 
Attorneys for Defendant 
Focus Receivables Management, LLC  
  

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

 
 

DOLORES KRUG, et al, 
 
                                  Plaintiff, 
 
                 - against -  
 
 FOCUS RECEIVABLES MANAGEMENT, LLC,  
et al  
 
                                  Defendants. 
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:  

  
 
Civil Action No. 09-cv-04310-  
JEI-AMD 

 
  

CORPORATE DISCLOSURE   
STATEMENT   
 
         
 
 
 

  
 

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 7.1, the undersigned counsel certifies that 

defendant, Focus Receivables Management, LLC, is a nongovernmental corporate entity whose 

parent is Focus Holding Company and no publicly held corporation owns 10% or more of its 

stock.  

      Budd Larner, P.C. 
            Attorneys for Defendant, 
             Focus Receivables Management, LLC 
 
       
       By:   /s/Virginia A. Pallotto 
                    Virginia A. Pallotto 
 
Dated:  October 7, 2009 
 723266w 
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PHILIP D. STERN & ASSOCIATES, LLC 
 ATTORNEY AT LAW  
55 MADISON AVENUE, SUITE 320A (973) 644-0770 
MORRISTOWN, NJ 07960-7397 PSTERN@WACKSLAW.NET 
WWW.PHILIPSTERN.COM FAX (973) 532-0866 
 

Friday, October 16, 2009 
 

Clerk, United States District Court 
Mitchell H. Cohen Building & U.S. Courthouse 
4th & Cooper Streets Room 1050 
Camden, NJ 08101 
 
RE: Dolores Krug, et al. v. Focus Receivables Management, L.L.C. 

Case 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD 
 
Dear Clerk, 
 
This letter is sent invoking the provisions of Local Civil Rule 7.1(d)(5) with 
respect to the pending motion to dismiss originally returnable on Monday, 
November 2, 2009. The new motion date is Monday, November 16, 2009. 
Consequently, Plaintiffs’ opposition papers are now due by November 2, 2009. 
 
Very truly yours, 

 
 
 

Philip D. Stern 
via ECF 
cc: Virginia A. Pallotto, Esq., Budd Larner, P.C. via ECF 
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WACKS & HARTMANN, LLC 
55 Madison Avenue, Suite 320A 
Morristown, NJ 07960-7397 
(973) 644-0770 
Attorney of record: Philip D. Stern 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs, Dolores Krug, 
Bruce Huffman, Donald Marso, and 
Jonathan Supler 

 

 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 
 

 
DOLORES KRUG, an individual; 
BRUCE HUFFMAN, an individual;  
DONALD MARSO, an individual; and 
JONATHAN SUPLER, an individual; 
on behalf of themselves and all others 
similarly situated, 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
FOCUS RECEIVABLES 
MANAGEMENT, LLC, a Georgia 
Limited Liability Company;  and JOHN 
AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1 
THROUGH 50,  
 
  Defendants. 
 

Case 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD 
 

PLAINTIFFS’ BRIEF 
IN OPPOSITION 

TO MOTION TO DISMISS [DOC. 5]
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INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT 

 Plaintiffs assert claims against a debt collector for violations of the Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act, (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. §1692 et seq., based on telephone 

messages it left for consumers which failed to contain required disclosures. 

The FDCPA limits statutory damages awardable to a class to, at most, 

$500,000. In just one year, Defendant violated the rights of 2,000,000 consumers. 

Defendant says that the resulting small share to each individual class member is an 

automatic bar to class certification. Its argument is contrary to numerous decisions, 

including this Court’s in Barkouras v. Hecker, 2006 U.S.Dist.Lexis 88998 (D.N.J. 

December 8, 2006). Decisions from other districts including those relied on by 

Defendant and the only Court of Appeals decision, conclude that a de minimis 

recovery is but one factor to be considered. At this stage of the litigation – 

especially with the Complaint’s allegations taken as true – the possibility of a small 

per capita recovery does not justify dismissing the class claims.   

 Defendant also argues that the messages, as alleged, do not violate the 

FDCPA. The messages do indeed violate the law. Finally, Defendant contends that 

the context in which each Plaintiff received the messages is a necessary element of 

his or her claim but was not pled. Context is, however, irrelevant. 

Therefore, the motion should be denied. Alternatively, Plaintiffs should be 

granted leave to amend. 
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PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

 The Complaint was filed on August 21, 2009 [Doc. 1] and process was 

served on September 2, 2009 [Doc. 2]. Consequently, Defendant’s response to the 

Complaint was due on September 22, 2009. On September 21, 2009, Defendant 

applied for a 15 day extension pursuant to L.Civ.R. 6.1(b). [Doc. 4.] On October 7, 

2009, Defendant filed the present motion to dismiss. [Doc. 5.] 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 Defendant’s Brief concedes that the Complaint’s allegations, together with 

inferences favorable to Plaintiffs, must be accepted as true. [Doc. 5-2, at page 13 of 

25.] Consequently, this Brief assumes the truth of those allegations. 

Defendant expands the record by submitting an affidavit which asserts that, 

nationwide, “there is a potential class size of some 2 million individuals.” Doc. 5-4 

at ¶4. As that number should not affect the decision on this motion, this Brief 

assumes that statement to be true for purposes of this motion only without 

conceding that number to be correct for any other purpose. 

 Consequently, the following facts are assumed to be true: 

1. Defendant is a debt collector as defined by the FDCPA. 

2. Plaintiffs and each of the 2,000,000 putative class members are consumers 

as defined by the FDCPA. 

Case 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD     Document 8      Filed 11/02/2009     Page 9 of 38



PDS1437 

Page 10 of 38 

3. In connection with its attempts to collect obligations or alleged obligations, 

Defendant left live or pre-recorded messages on those consumers’ telephone 

answering devices which are as transcribed in the Complaint or materially 

similar. On their face, it is obvious that the messages do not identify 

Defendant by its name, do not disclose that the call was an attempt to collect 

a debt, and fail to state that the caller was a debt collector. (Defendant 

concedes, “None of these messages refer to a ‘debt collector’ or efforts to 

collect a ‘debt.’” Doc. 5-2 at p. 23 of 25.) 

 
LEGAL ARGUMENTS 

 
POINT I: DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS THE CLASS CLAIMS 

SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE A POTENTIAL DE MINIMIS 
INDIVIDUAL RECOVERY BY CLASS MEMEBRS IS NOT AN 
AUTOMATIC BAR TO CERTIFICATION. 

 
Defendant raises a most perplexing argument: having over-violated, the 

class has become so large that each class member’s share of the FDCPA’s capped 

statutory damages is so small that Defendant should escape all class liability. If it 

were assumed that Defendant complied with the FDCPA’s 13-hour daily period 

when calls may be placed, 15 U.S.C. §1692c(a)(1) (8AM to 9PM), and only one 

message were left per consumer, then, during the one year preceding the 

Complaint’s filing, Defendant violated the FDCPA about every 8½ seconds. 

Defendant’s de minimis argument, previously raised by other debt collectors, has 
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been described as creating a “loophole,” Barkouras v. Hecker, 2006 U.S.Dist.Lexis 

88998 (D.N.J. Dec. 8, 2006), and a “perverse incentive,” Hicks v. Client Services, 

Inc., 257 F.R.D. 699, 701 (S.D.Fla. 2009). It should be rejected here. 

A. The District of New Jersey permits de minimis recovery class actions. 
 

The FDCPA expressly provides that class damages should be assessed 

“without regard to a minimum individual recovery.” 15 U.S.C. 

§1692k(a)(2)(B)(ii). Nevertheless, Defendant argues that a minimum individual 

recovery should be an automatic bar to certification. Defendant reasons that a class 

action cannot be superior to 2,000,000 separate individual actions in which the 

class members could obtain up to $1,000 each. 

This Court’s decision in Barkouras v. Hecker, 2006 U.S.Dist.Lexis 88998 

(D.N.J. Dec. 8, 2006) involved, like here, FDCPA violations. The Court granted 

class certification over the collector’s objection that its negative net worth would 

deprive the class of all statutory damages and, therefore, a class action would be 

inferior to individual actions. Judge Thompson, at *9-10, disagreed: 

Arguing their poor financial standing renders a class action inferior, 
Defendants attempt to use their net worth as a sword and a shield: a 
sword to pierce Plaintiff’s attempt to certify a class, and a shield from 
individual suits that offer very limited or no recovery at all. Congress 
intended the damages provision of 15 U.S.C. §1692k(a)(2), limiting 
class action damages to one per centum of net worth, as a protection 
for small businesses from falling into bankruptcy for FDCPA 
violations. See, e.g., Sanders v. Jackson, 209 F.3d 998, 1000-01 (7th 
Cir. 2000) (stating “the primary purpose of the net worth provision [in 
the FDCPA] is [to] ensure that defendants are not forced to liquidate 
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their companies in order to satisfy an award of punitive damages”). 
However, it surely was not intended … as a loophole for defendants to 
avoid suits altogether. 
 

B. Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss the Class Action under Fed.R.Civ.P. 
12(b)(6) is, in Reality, a Premature Attempt to Not Certify a Class under 
Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(c)(1)(A). 

  
Defendant’s motion to dismiss the class claims under Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) 

is misplaced. Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6), which addresses a “defense to a claim.” One 

or more members of class may sue as “representative parties on behalf of all 

members.” Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(a). To proceed as a class action requires the Court’s 

approval. Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(c)(1). A request to certify a class is not a claim; rather, it 

is a procedural mechanism. Thus, the standards applicable to a motion under Rule 

12(b)(6) have no application to a determination whether to certify a class. 

Under Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(c)(1)(A), the determination whether to certify a class 

should be made “[a]t an early practicable time.” This is not, however, a 

“practicable time.” 

Defendant cites five opinions as justifying a motion to dismiss class claims. 

[Doc. 5-2 at p. 14 of 25.] Four of those cases involved undisputed facts which led 

the court to conclude that the plaintiff was an inadequate class representative and, 

therefore, a class could not be certified. The fifth case actually supports Plaintiff’s 

argument that consideration of class certification is premature. 
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In Peltier v. Exxon Corp., 527 F.2d 757, 760 (9th Cir. 1975), the putative 

class was not certified because the plaintiff was held to be inadequate to assert a 

four-state anti-trust action. Likewise, in Hyatt v. United Aircraft Corp., Sikorsky 

Aircraft Div., 50 F.R.D. 242, 246 (D.Conn. 1970), on defendant’s motion under 

Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(c)(1), the court concluded that a class would not be certified 

because the plaintiff, who had not been employed by defendant for two years, 

“cannot fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class he purports to 

represent which includes Negroes presently employed, those who have been 

employed during the two year interval since plaintiff’s voluntary resignation…, 

[and] those hereafter to be employed.”  

In Jenkins v. General Motors Corp., 354 F. Supp. 1040, 1044 (D.Del. 1973), 

the court, while deciding defendant’s dismissal motion, concluded sua sponte that 

the matter could not be maintained as a class because the plaintiff, who had not 

worked at GM for more than four years and had no desire to return, was held to 

have an insufficient interest to be an adequate representative to obtain a class 

action injunction to benefit current minority employees. Similarly, in Meyers v. 

Ace Hardware, Inc., 95 F.R.D. 145 (N.D.Ohio 1982), plaintiff was held not be an 

adequate class representative, and his discrimination claims were neither typical of 

nor common with the putative class. 
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The last case cited by Defendant, Osborn v. Pennsylvania-Delaware Service 

Station Dealers Assn., 499 F.Supp. 553 (D.Del. 1980), does not support its 

argument. Members of a gasoline retailers association had refused to sell gasoline 

until the Department of Energy raised the maximum permitted sales price. Osburn 

sued the association asserting antitrust claims. The retailers moved to dismiss, 

arguing that their boycott was a petition to the government entitled to 

constitutional immunity. The court denied the motion. The retailers also moved to 

strike the class claims. The court denied the motion, noting that plaintiff needed to 

be given an opportunity to provide additional materials to assist the court in 

determining the predominance and superiority issues. Id. at 560. Thus, Osborn 

represents a case where the court did not rush to dismiss the class claims. 

Those five decisions relied on by Defendant were decided between 27 and 

39 years ago and have little relevance in the modern world of class actions 

following the 2003 amendments. 

Almost a year ago, in In re Hydrogen Peroxide Antitrust Litigation, 552 

F.3d 305, 307 (3rd Cir. 2008), our Court of Appeals clarified “three key aspects of 

class certification procedure.” 

• “First, the decision to certify a class calls for findings by the court, 
not merely a ‘threshold showing’ by a party, that each requirement 
of Rule 23 is met. Factual determinations supporting Rule 23 
findings must be made by a preponderance of the evidence.” 
 

Case 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD     Document 8      Filed 11/02/2009     Page 14 of 38



PDS1437 

Page 15 of 38 

• “Second, the court must resolve all factual or legal disputes 
relevant to class certification, even if they overlap with the 
merits—including disputes touching on elements of the cause of 
action.” 

 
• “Third, the court’s obligation to consider all relevant evidence and 

arguments extends to expert testimony, whether offered by a party 
seeking class certification or by a party opposing it.” 
 

Id. The Third Circuit relied on the 2003 change to Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(c)(1)(A), which 

replaced “as soon as practicable after commencement of an action” with “[a]t an 

early practicable time after a person sues or is sued as a class representative.” Id. at 

318. Citing its decision in Weiss v. Regal Collections, 385 F.3d 337, 347 (3d Cir. 

2004), the Court of Appeals observed that this rule change “reflects the need for a 

thorough evaluation of the Rule 23 factors [and] for this reason the rule does not 

‘require or encourage premature certification determinations.’” Id. (emphasis 

added). 

Defendant’s Brief neither cites nor discusses Hydrogen Peroxide, a decision 

binding on this Court. Instead, it relied on decades-old, non-binding opinions 

decided under a materially different version of the Rule.  

Here, Plaintiffs alleged that information relevant to class certification is 

contained in Defendant’s records. Doc. 1 at ¶74. Defendant seems to agree, relying 

on that very allegation as the basis for submitting its affidavit of class size. Doc. 5-

2 at p.9-10 of 25. Consequently, class discovery should be permitted so as to create 

the record necessary for the Court to undertake “a thorough evaluation of the Rule 
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23 factors.”  Weiss, supra, at  347. Discovery may also justify modifying the class 

definition which might reduce or eliminate the de minimis problem which troubles 

Defendant. Thus, a determination as to certification now would only be premature 

and, therefore, Defendant’s motion should be denied.  

C. The Decisions cited by Defendant do not Support its Argument that a De 
Minimis Recovery is an Absolute Bar to Class Certification. 

 
No decision stands for the general proposition that a de minimis recovery in 

an FDCPA class case is an absolute bar to certification. Rather, it is one factor to 

be considered.  

To get to the Rule 23(b)(3) issue, Defendant identifies all of the Rule’s 

requirements. There is no dispute that, to certify a class, the four components under 

Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(a) and those under either Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(b)(1), (b)(2) or (b)(3) 

must be established. Defendant raises no argument as to any component under 

Rule 23(a) and argues that 23(b)(1) and (2) do not apply. Although Plaintiffs 

contend that there may be a basis for certification under 23(b)(1) or (b)(2), for 

purposes of this motion only, Plaintiffs will not contest Defendant’s assertion. 

Thus, the issue for decision focuses on (b)(3), which has two prongs. 

Specifically, the Court must find: 

the questions of law or fact common to class members predominate over any 
questions affecting only individual members, and 
 
that a class action is superior to other available methods for fairly and 
efficiently adjudicating the controversy. [Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(b)(3).] 
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Defendant does not argue lack of predominance. Consequently, the argument 

comes down to whether a de minimis recovery alone, regardless of any other factor 

favoring certification, dictates that “a class action is [not] superior to other 

available methods for fairly and efficiently adjudicating the controversy.” 

Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(b)(3). 

The starting point should be the FDCPA. Congress instructed that the class 

statutory damage award be “without regard to a minimum individual recovery.” 15 

U.S.C. §1692k(a)(2)(B)(ii). Defendant does not address this legislative dictate. 

Statutory damages (the Act calls them “additional damages,” 15 U.S.C. 

§1692k(a)(2)) are distinct from actual damages and do not depend on the existence 

of any actual damages. Miller v. Wolpoff & Abramson, L.L.P., 321 F.3d 292, 307 

(2d Cir. 2003). The amount is determined based on the debt collector’s conduct 

without regard to any harm done to the consumer. 15 U.S.C. §1692k(b). 

Statutory damages create an economic incentive for consumers to bring 

claims, as do the fee shifting provisions of the FDCPA. Congress created these 

incentives to promote the FDCPA’s objectives, including “to eliminate abusive 

debt collection practices by debt collectors,” and “to insure that those debt 

collectors who refrain from using abusive debt collection practices are not 

competitively disadvantaged.” 15 U.S.C. §1692(e). Statutory damages and fee-

shifting seek to deter debt collectors from violating the FDCPA’s uniform standard 
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of conduct applicable to all debt collectors. Mace v. Van Ru Credit Corp., 109 F.3d 

338, 344-345 (7th Cir. 1997). Thus, a violating debt collector not only abuses 

consumers but grabs an unfair advantage in the marketplace over its brethren 

collectors. 

The FDCPA awards an individual who brings a valid claim with statutory 

damages capped at $1,000. 15 U.S.C. §1692k(a)(2)(A). The statute specifies three 

criteria to be considered, all of which focus exclusively on the debt collector’s 

conduct – not the harm to the consumer. 15 U.S.C. §1692k(b)(1). 

In addition, the FDCPA assesses statutory damages for the class at the lesser 

of $500,000 or 1% of the collector’s net worth. 15 U.S.C. §1692k(a)(2)(B)(ii). The 

same three criteria are used with an added factor requiring consideration of the 

debt collector’s resources. 15 U.S.C. §1692k(b)(2). Defendant seeks to avoid 

paying statutory damages to the class by arguing that a class action is not superior 

to individual actions. 

Rule 23 provides this non-exclusive list of four matters which, in 

combination, are pertinent to the superiority findings:  

(A) the class members’ interests in individually controlling the 
prosecution or defense of separate actions; 

 
(B) the extent and nature of any litigation concerning the 

controversy already begun by or against class members; 
 
(C) the desirability or undesirability of concentrating the litigation 

of the claims in the particular forum; and 
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(D) the likely difficulties in managing a class action. 
 
Defendant fails to discuss any of these four factors. There is no showing that 

the two million class members have expressed any interest in controlling the 

prosecution of individual actions. Indeed, if there were a groundswell of such 

interest, it is likely that Defendant would be seeking the shelter of a class action. 

See, Seeger v. Aid Associates, Inc., 2007 U.S.Dist.Lexis 22824, *20 (E.D.Wisc. 

March 29, 2007), where the court concluded that the debt collector implicitly 

conceded that few consumers would pursue their FDCPA claims because “it would 

be entirely illogical for the defendant to oppose certification of the class and rather 

wish to pursue a path that could potentially expose it to” millions of dollars in 

individual claims. 

Furthermore, Defendant does not discuss manageability and offers nothing 

to show that it would be undesirable to concentrate the litigation in one forum 

rather than, as Defendant seems to desire, clogging the courts with 2,000,000 

individual FDCPA lawsuits. 

Nevertheless, Defendant cites five District Court decisions in support of its 

argument that a de minimis recovery bars class certification. None are from either 

this District or another District within this Circuit. 

In one of the cases, the court expressly acknowledged that, in an FDCPA 

class case, the public interest in seeing that the FDCPA is obeyed outweighs a 
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small per capita award so long as the total award to the entire class is large enough 

to promote the FDCPA’s purpose of deterring future violations. See, Gradisher v. 

Check Enforcement Unit, Inc., 209 F.R.D. 392, 394 (W.D.Mich. 2002). Thus, that 

court granted the plaintiff’s motion to de-certify after it appeared that the 

maximum statutory damages would be only $38.90 for the entire class – “too 

paltry” to have any deterrent or curative effect on bringing the collector’s business 

practices in line with the FDCPA. Id.; and, see, Fainbrun v. Southwest Credit Sys., 

L.P., 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 21156 (E.D.N.Y. March 18, 2008) ($50 for the entire 

class justified de-certification). The Gradisher court cautioned, however, that a de 

minimis recovery “does not mean that decertification is necessarily warranted. For 

example, even though the award per member is small, decertification might not be 

warranted if the class award was large enough to deter Defendant from committing 

future FDCPA violations.” Id. 

Here, where the statutory damages are assumed to be $500,000, Gradisher 

encourages class certification because the large award would promote compliance 

with the FDCPA notwithstanding a small individual recovery. 

Defendant cites Sonmore v. CheckRite Recovery Services, Inc., 206 F.R.D. 

257 (D.Minn. 2001). Relying on several factors, the court concluded that 

presentation of individual claims in distinct lawsuits was a superior method than a 

class action. The factors included concerns about the plaintiff’s adequacy, 
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anticipation of tremendous difficulty and limited success in notifying class 

members, ensuring that class members actually receive their award, and a 

maximum individual award of $25. The court never said that the $25 recovery, in 

and of itself, made a class action inferior or mandated denying certification. 

The Sonmore court cited only one case in its de minimis discussion, an 

unpublished decision from the Northern District of Mississippi, Lyles v. The 

Rosenfeld Attorney Network, 2000 U.S.Dist.Lexis 8543 (N.D.Miss. May 19, 2000). 

In Lyles, although the court concluded that individual actions would be 

superior to a class action, the court acknowledged that a de minimis individual 

recovery is not an automatic bar to certification. 

Defendant also cites Jones v. The CBE Group, Inc., 215 F.R.D. 558 

(D.Minn. 2003). This is yet another case evincing that de minimis individual 

recovery is merely a factor and does not automatically bar a class action. Thus, in 

addition to a small recovery, the court cited “serious reservations” about plaintiff’s 

incentive to pursue the matter because the court had already determined that 

plaintiff’s claims were moot by the collector’s Rule 68 Offer of Judgment. Note 

that the use of Rule 68 in that manner is referred to as “picking off” and has been 

denounced in this Circuit. Weiss v. Regal Collections, supra. Thus, like 

Defendant’s other cases, it cannot be said that Jones mandates non-certification in 

a de minimis situation. 
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Next, Defendant cites the magistrate’s unpublished report and 

recommendation against certifying a class in Lewis v. Jesse L. Riddle, P.C., 1998 

U.S.Dist.Lexis 20465 (W.D.La. November 18, 1998). The decision concluded that 

there was a lack of predominance and superiority. Contrary to Defendant’s 

argument, it recognized that a de minimis recovery is not an automatic bar but, 

instead, a factor. The other factor was that there would be substantial delays and 

investment of judicial resources arising from managing the case due to the need, 

under the unique facts before it, for determining whether each class member’s debt 

arose for business or consumer purposes. 

Last, Defendant relies on Lyse v. Corporate Collection Services, Inc., 2006 

U.S.Dist.Lexis 67719 (S.D.N.Y. September 18, 2006). In that decision, the court 

granted the consumer’s summary judgment on virtually identical claims as are 

raised here. It then turned to the consumer’s class certification motion. It denied 

that motion because there was insufficient evidence of numerosity. In a footnote, 

the court observed that, had numerosity been satisfied, there would be a lack of 

superiority because damages for the entire class were capped at $5,600, or $140 

per class member if there were 40 members. The court neither cited nor discussed 

any authority regarding its superiority comments. Id. at *25n5. 
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D. A De Minimis Recovery is Only One Factor to be Considered When 
Determining Superiority, and is Never a Bar When All Other Factors 
Favor Certification. 

 
Gradisher, Lyles, and Lewis, cases cited by Defendant, each recognized that 

a de minimis recovery was merely one factor to be considered. Those three 

decisions pointed to dicta in the only Court of Appeals case to discuss the issue. 

Mace v. Van Ru Credit Corp., supra, reversed the District Court’s denial of 

certification based on a de minimis individual recovery. The District Court had 

mistakenly concluded that a nationwide class was required under the FDCPA, 

resulting in a small recovery. The court was well-aware of the FDCPA’s $1,000 

cap potentially available in individual cases, 

[b]ut even if a nation-wide class were appropriate, we believe that a 
de minimis recovery (in monetary terms) should not automatically bar 
a class action. * * * 
 True, the FDCPA allows for individual recoveries of up to $ 1000. 
But this assumes that the plaintiff will be aware of her rights, willing 
to subject herself to all the burdens of suing and able to find an 
attorney willing to take her case. These are considerations that cannot 
be dismissed lightly in assessing whether a class action or a series of 
individual lawsuits would be more appropriate for pursuing the 
FDCPA’s objectives. 
 The attorney’s fees provision of the FDCPA is another factor that 
must be considered in connection with a de minimis bar. * * * The 
attorney’s fee provision makes the class action more likely to proceed, 
thereby helping to deter future violations. When individual class 
members are offered the right and opportunity to opt out of the class 
action, the statutory language “without regard to a minimum 
individual recovery” generally controls. [Mace, supra, at 344-345 
(emphasis added, footnotes and citations omitted).] 
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Consequently, there are numerous cases granting certification 

notwithstanding a minimal individual recovery. 

Barkouras, supra,the case from this District, has already been discussed. To 

the same effect, Lemire v. Wolpoff & Abramson. LLP, 256 F.R.D. 321, 331 

(D.Conn. 2009) (“even if Wolpoff’s net worth turns out to be negative, a class 

action will still be superior to individual litigation.”) 

In the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, a sister court in this Circuit, an 

FDCPA class was certified when statutory damages for the entire class were 

limited to just $5,200. Thus, the court in Jordan v. Commonwealth Financial 

Systems, Inc., 237 F.R.D. 132, 140 (E.D.Pa. 2006), expressly rejected the 

collector’s lack of superiority argument based on the small recovery, articulating 

three bases for finding superiority notwithstanding a minimal individual recovery.  

[T]he Court finds that class action litigation would still be a superior 
method of resolving the potential FDCPA claims. First, without a 
class action, many putative class members would lack the incentive to 
bring individual suits against defendants, due in part to the small 
individual losses associated with each potential claim. This would 
leave aggrieved parties without redress, which, in turn, would dilute 
the deterrent effect of the FDCPA on abusive collection practices. 
Second, even if most members of the proposed classes filed individual 
suits in the absence of class action certification, thereby substantially 
fulfilling the deterrent objective of the FDCPA, this volume of filings 
would lead to a host of alternative problems, including judicial 
congestion, the incurrence of excessive litigation expenses, and 
administrative delays. Third, and most importantly, any concern about 
the financial detriment to individual class members through class 
action litigation is sufficiently redressed through the Rule 23 opt-out 
procedure, which leaves up to each person falling within the class 
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definition the methodological decision of how to pursue potential 
claims. To ensure the opt-out procedure offers informed choice, the 
Court will direct that Rule 23(c)(2)(B) notice to class members 
“clearly explain the difference in the size of their recovery should they 
choose to pursue recovery as part of this class.” [Id. (citations omitted; 
emphasis added).] 
 
Hicks, supra, a 2009 decision from the Southern District of Florida, 

recognized that a de minimis recovery is just one factor and certified an FDCPA 

class. The court considered whether class members were aware of their rights and 

their possible recovery as well as their willingness to pursue litigation 

independently. Id. at 701. “[W]e do not assume that class members understand the 

provisions well enough to know that it may be financially worthwhile to spend the 

time and effort to litigate these matters.” Id. 

Hicks relied, in part, on Abels v. JBC Legal Group, P.C., 227 F.R.D. 541 

(N.D.Cal. 2005), where an FDCPA class was certified notwithstanding a 25¢ 

individual recovery. 

In Warcholek v. Medical Collections System, Inc., 241 F.R.D. 291 (N.D.Ill. 

2006), the court certified an FDCPA class over a de minimis recovery argument. It 

observed that a class can be certified even though a class member might obtain a 

larger recovery by bringing an individual action. Id. at 295-296. 

In Macarz v. Transworld Sys., 193 F.R.D. 46 (D. Conn. 2000), the court 

certified an FDCPA class. It rejected the argument that a class action would be 

inferior because the individual class members would only receive $50 instead of 
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the potential for $1,000 in an individual action. “The possibility that putative class 

members would be entitled to greater recovery should they pursue claims on their 

own arises in every class action, but it [sic] not grounds for denying class 

certification, if the other criteria are met.” Id. at 55 (emphasis added). Instead, 

those “who determine that their interests are better served by an individual action” 

are protected by their right to opt out. Id. 

In Egge v. Healthspan Servs. Co., 208 F.R.D. 265 (D.Minn. 2002), the court 

certified an FDCPA class notwithstanding a 21¢ individual recovery. The court 

reasoned that a small recovery cannot bar a class action and, to the extent any 

individual desired to undertake the time and expense of an individual action, Rule 

23’s opt-out provision provided the requisite remedy. Relying on Macarz, it 

concluded that, since all other factors favored certification, a de minimis recovery 

did not bar certification. 

There are also numerous unpublished opinions certifying FDCPA classes 

notwithstanding a minimal individual recovery. See, e.g., Miller v. Midland Credit 

Management, Inc., 2009 U.S.Dist.Lexis 16273 (N.D.Ill. March 2, 2009) (maximum 

individual recovery was $3.69); and, Seeger, supra. 

Here, there is nothing to show that class members have any desire to 

undertake individual actions and the opt-out provisions protect any class member 

who so chooses. On the other hand, the assumed recovery of $500,000 has a 
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significant deterrent effect while promoting the FDCPA’s policies. Thus, there is 

no basis for denying certification at this time. 

Like the court in Hicks, Plaintiffs ask this Court to observe that, although 

there are cases supporting both certification and non-certification, “the reasoning 

of the cases supporting an FDCPA class action despite de minimis recovery by the 

class members to be more persuasive.” Hicks, supra, at 701. 

E. The Court Can Consider Alternatives to Avoid the De Minimis Issue. 
 

If the Court has concerns over the effect of the class’s size on individual 

recoveries, there are alternatives to a nationwide class. 

Mace v. Van Ru Credit Corp., supra, suggests one such approach. There, 

plaintiff sought to certify a Wisconsin-only class. The District Court concluded, 

however, that a nationwide class was required under the FDCPA and calculated a 

28¢ per capita recovery. It then denied certification because, as Defendant argues 

here, a class action would not be superior. The Seventh Circuit disagreed and 

reversed, holding that the FDCPA does not compel only nationwide classes. One 

option, then, would be to limit the class’s geographic area. 

Limitations could be accomplished in any of several ways. The class could 

be limited by the consumer’s location (e.g., state, county, area code, or vicinage), 

the particular creditor (e.g., whether the debt was being collected on behalf of a 

particular bank), the amount of the claim (e.g., whether the claim was less or more 
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than a particular amount), the number of violations (e.g., only those who received 

at least three violative calls), or a more limited timeframe. 

For a geographic limitation, the Complaint could be amended to leave just 

Mrs. Krug, the New Jersey Plaintiff to assert a New Jersey-only class. Mr. 

Huffman could file a Missouri-only class, Mr. Marso a Wisconsin-only class, and 

Mr. Supler a North Carolina-only class. This approach would allow multiple class 

actions against the same debt collector for the same conduct although committed in 

different locations so as to permit sufficient recovery for each statewide class 

member. 

Defendant might argue, however, that allowing multiple statewide class 

actions is unduly punitive to the debt collector. The alternative, however, is to 

permit a mass violator to escape classwide liability while any punitive effect from 

multiple class actions can be ameliorated by each successive court considering, as 

it must under 15 U.S.C. §1692k(b)(2), “the resources of the debt collector” when 

awarding statutory damages for the class. 

This multiple class action problem arose when two class actions based on 

the debt collector’s use of a single form letter were split so that one class was 

defined by those letters sent on behalf of one creditor and the other class by those 

letters sent on behalf of all other creditors. Sensing that the distinction may have 

been arbitrary and that the split was done merely to maximize attorneys fees 
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without any benefit to the class, the court entered an order to show cause why the 

consumer’s attorney should not be referred for ethics violations. In Guevarra v. 

Progressive Finincial Services, Inc., 497 F. Supp. 2d 1090 (N.D.Cal. 2007), the 

court ultimately declined to refer the matter. It considered the FDCPA and Mace 

and then concluded that the FDCPA actually encourages multiplicity of litigation 

and therefore, “any remedy to this situation lies with Congress.” Id., at 1092. 

Another alternative is to handle this case as a hybrid by certifying only those 

issues which are not hampered by the de minimis argument. Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(c)(4) 

allows an action to be “maintained as a class action only as to particular issues.” 

Here, Defendant has focused exclusively on the superiority vel non of damages. If 

the Court is satisfied that Defendant has raised legitimate concerns as to damages, 

it could certify only the issue of liability. 

Under a liability-only class, each class member would receive notice of the 

class action and, upon a successful class adjudication of liability, each could 

pursue his or her right to collect individual statutory damages and attorneys fees. 

This result would avoid Defendant’s concern that the class members are better off 

bringing their own individual claims while deciding those issues which truly merit 

classwide treatment – whether Defendant’s voice messages violate the FDCPA. 

Common and typical questions of law and fact which predominate over individual 

members’ issues can be conclusively decided without implicating Defendant’s de 
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minimis concerns. From a manageability standpoint, this would streamline the 

consumer’s individual lawsuits and encourage more widespread vindication of 

consumer claims because liability would not be a disputed issue. 

The final alternative would be to permit the case to proceed on a nationwide 

basis but, if the distribution to class members would indeed prove to be 

impractical, then to apply the cy pres doctrine and divert the class damages to an 

eleemosynary institution. Cy pres is briefly discussed in Mace. In this manner, the 

legislative directive to enforce the FDCPA by way of a class action “without 

regard to a minimum individual recovery,” 15 U.S.C. §1692k(a)(2)(B)(ii), would 

be fulfilled, the Congressionally authorized assessment will have been extracted 

with the concomitant deterrence, multiplicity of actions would be avoided and 

there would be no risk of unfairly punishing the debt collector. Finally, the 

deprivation of de minimis individual recovery will, of necessity, be de minimis 

while those who want to pursue individual claims will have the chance to opt out. 

This approach would balance the interests of those who desire to pursue their own 

claims against the public interest in enforcing the FDCPA. 

Considering that (a) the Court is obliged to undertake a thorough 

examination of the facts, (b) a minimal individual recovery is but one factor in the 

superiority analysis, and (c) there are alternatives which would avoid or reduce the 

de minimis problem, it is premature to dismiss the class claims. 
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POINT II: DEFENDANT MISCONSTRUES THE FDCPA’S 
“COMMUNICATION” DEFINITION AND ITS OBLIGATIONS 
WHICH ATTACH WHEN IT COMMUNICATES WITH A 
CONSUMER. 

 
Defendant argues that its voicemail messages are not “communications” as 

defined by the FDCPA. Consequently, as the disclosures required under 15 U.S.C. 

§1692e(11) only apply to a “communication,” Defendant contends that it was 

never obligated to make those disclosures and did not violate that section. 

Section 1692e(11) provides that the following violates the FDCPA: 

The failure to disclose in the initial written communication with the 
consumer and, in addition, if the initial communication with the 
consumer is oral, in that initial oral communication, that the debt 
collector is attempting to collect a debt and that any information 
obtained will be used for that purpose, and the failure to disclose in 
subsequent communications that the communication is from a debt 
collector, except that this paragraph shall not apply to a formal 
pleading made in connection with a legal action. 
 
Defendant’s argument is contrary to the overwhelming weight of authority. 

This line of decisions are commonly referred to as “Foti” cases based on the 

decision in Foti v. NCO Financial Systems, Inc., 424 F.Supp.2d 643 (S.D.N.Y. 

2006). 

Reported Foti decisions include Anchondo v. Anderson, Crenshaw & Assoc., 

583 F.Supp.2d 1278 (D.N.M. 2008); Edwards v. Niagara Credit Solutions, Inc., 

586 F. Supp. 2d 1346 (N.D. Ga. 2008) affirmed ___F.3d ___, 2009 U.S.App.Lexis 

22500 (11th Cir. 2009); Ramirez v. Apex Fin. Mgmt., L.L.C., 567 F.Supp.2d 1035 
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(N.D. Ill. 2008); Masciarelli v. Richard J. Boudreau & Assocs., LLC, 529 

F.Supp.2d 183 (D. Mass. 2007); and Hosseinzadeh v. M.R.S. Associates, 387 

F.Supp.2d 1104 (C.D. Cal. 2005). 

The only Foti case to reach a decision in a Court of Appeals is Edwards, 

supra. There, the only issue under review was the debt collector’s argument that it 

had a bona fide error defense under 15 U.S.C. §1692k(c). That section provides, 

“A debt collector may not be held liable in any action brought under this title if the 

debt collector shows by a preponderance of evidence that the violation was not 

intentional and resulted from a bona fide error notwithstanding the maintenance of 

procedures reasonably adapted to avoid any such error.” The debt collector argued 

that the FDCPA forced it to make a choice between leaving a message without the 

§1692e(11) disclosures or making the disclosures and risk a third party disclosure 

prohibited under §1692c(b). The Court of Appeals rejected the argument – as have 

every other court faced with this rock-and-hard-place argument – likening the 

collector’s “oxymoronic explanation” to the Vietnam-era military officer who 

explained that “we had to destroy the village to save it.” 

Many unpublished decisions have also followed Foti. See, e.g., Inman v. 

NCO Fin. Sys., 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 98215 (E.D.Pa. October 21, 2009) (finding 

Foti “to be highly instructive”); Mark v. J.C. Christensen & Assocs., 2009 U.S. 

Dist. LEXIS 67724 (D. Minn. Aug. 4, 2009); Savage v. NIC, Inc., 2009 U.S. Dist. 
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LEXIS 65071 (D. Az. July 28, 2009); Belin v. Litton Loan Svc’g., 2006 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 47953, *12 (M.D. Fla., July 14, 2006); Costa v. National Action Financial 

Services, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 93230 (E.D.Ca. December 19, 2007); and, Leyse, 

supra.  

Under the FDCPA, the “term ‘communication’ means the conveying of 

information regarding a debt directly or indirectly to any person through any 

medium.” 15 U.S.C. §1692a(2). The statute does not define “information.” 

“Information” should be construed “so as to effect its [the FDCPA’s] purpose.” 

Brown v. Card Serv. Ctr., 464 F.3d 450, 453 (3rd Cir. 2006).  Thus, 

the plain language of the definition of ‘communication’ is extremely 
broad, thus encompassing a wide range of acts. Any medium can be 
used to classify as a communication, and it includes all information 
regarding a debt. Thus, the logical interpretation of what constitutes 
communication includes relaying a phone number for the purposes of 
having the call returned to discuss a debt.” [Stinson v. Asset 
Acceptance, LLC, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 42266, *7 (E.D. Va. June 
12, 2006) (emphasis added).] 

 
Against these authorities, Defendant relies on an unpublished decision from 

the Western District of Oklahoma. In Biggs v. Credit Collection Corp., 2007 U.S. 

Dist. LEXIS 84793 (W.D. Okla. Nov. 15, 2007), the court held that the debt 

collector’s voice messages were not a communication because they had not 

conveyed any information specific to the debt. No court has followed Biggs or 

cited it with approval. Three courts, however, have expressly rejected it. See, Mark 

v. J.C. Christensen & Assocs., supra; the District Court decision in Edwards v. 
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Niagara Credit Solutions, Inc., supra; and Ramirez v. Apex Fin. Mgmt., L.L.C., 

supra. 

Defendant cites two other decisions. Both of those decisions are inapposite. 

In Horkey v. J.V.D.B. & Assocs., 179 F.Supp.2d 861 (N.D.Ill. 2002), aff’d 

2003 U.S.Lexis. 12512 (7th Cir. June 20, 2003), the debt collector called the 

consumer at her place of work. The call was answered by a co-worker who said 

that the consumer was not available. There was no claim raised under §1692e(11) 

or that the call was a “communication” – matters which could be relevant to the 

case at bar. Rather, the court concluded that, by asking to speak to the consumer, a 

debt collector does not make prohibited third party disclosures under §1692c(b). 

Defendant also cites Francis v. GMAC Mortgage, 2007 U.S.Lexis 41022 

(E.D.Mich. 2007). GMAC sent two letters to Francis unrelated to the collection of 

a debt. As explained in Ramirez, supra, 567 F.Supp.2d at 1041: 

Francis is easily distinguishable. There, the court considered whether 
two letters sent to the plaintiff by the defendant debt collector 
constituted “communications” for purposes of the FDCPA. Francis, 
2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 41022, 2007 WL 1648884, at *4. One letter 
was a mere acknowledgement, stating that the defendant received a 
letter from plaintiff. Id. The other letter was sent in response to an 
inquiry that the plaintiff initiated. Id. Neither letter had anything to do 
with the collection of the plaintiff's debt, despite their remote 
connection. Id. In light of this, the court found that the two letters, 
on their face, were “in the nature of a customer service response, 
rather than a debt collection demand.” Id.  
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A. Defendant Raises No Issue as to the Validity of Plaintiffs’ Claim under 
§1692d(6). 

 
Even if Biggs withstood scrutiny as to the definition of “communication” 

and the disclosures under §1692e(11), the messages nonetheless violate §1692d(6).  

Unlike §1692e(11), the obligation to comply with 15 U.S.C. §1692d(6) is 

not triggered by a “communication.”  Thus, Defendant’s motion, which addresses 

whether the messages are a “communication,” do not respond to the claims under 

15 U.S.C. §1692d(6). 

The FDCPA prohibits debt collector from engaging “in any conduct the 

natural consequence of which is to harass, oppress, or abuse any person in 

connection with the collection of a debt.” 15 U.S.C. §1692d. It then articulates a 

list of six actions which are deemed to constitute a violation, the last of which is: 

Except as provided in section 1692b of this title [calling a third party 
to acquire a consumer’s residence, telephone number or place of 
work], the placement of telephone calls without meaningful disclosure 
of the caller’s identity. [15 U.S.C. §1692d(6).] 
 

The calls here do not fall under 15 U.S.C. §1692b and, therefore, “meaningful 

disclosure” was required. 

In a case in which individual employees of a collection agency used 

pseudonyms (called “desk names”), it was held that “meaningful disclosure” is 

satisfied when “an individual debt collector who is employed by a debt collection 

company accurately discloses the name of her employer and the nature of her 
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business and conceals no more than her real name.” Wright v. Credit Bureau of 

Ga., Inc., 548 F.Supp. 591, 597 (N.D. Ga. 1982); see also, Joseph v. J.J. Mac 

Intyre Cos., 281 F.Supp.2d 1156, 1163 (N.D. Cal. 2003). Section 1692d(6) 

“requires that the caller must state his or her name and capacity, and disclose 

enough information so as not to mislead the recipient as to the purpose of the call 

or the reason the questions are being asked.” Hosseinzadeh, supra; see also, Costa 

v. Nat’l Action Fin. Servs., 2007 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 93230 (E.D. Cal., Dec. 19, 

2007); and Glover v. Client Servs., 2007 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 73604, *14-16 (W.D. 

Mich., Oct. 2, 2007). 

The messages alleged in the Complaint identify neither the caller (i.e., Focus 

Receivables) nor purpose of the call (i.e., collection of a debt). Thus, the 

Complaint states a claim under §1692d(6). 

POINT III: THERE IS NO BASIS FOR DEFENDANT’S NOVEL 
ARGUMENT THAT ITS OBLIGATION TO MAKE 
DISCLOSURES WHEN COMMUNICATING WITH THE 
CONSUMER DEPENDS ON THE CONTEXT OF THE 
COMMUNICATION. 

 
 Defendant argues that “Courts have determined that the ‘context’ of a given 

contact can determine whether the FDCPA’s disclosure requirements have been 

violated.” [Doc. 5-2 at p. 24 of 25.] Defendant cites Dikeman v. National 

Educators, 81 F.3d 949 (10th Cir. 1996), and Ignatowski v. GC Srvs., 3 F.Supp.2d 

187 (D.Conn. 1990). Those decisions do not support Defendant’s arguments. 
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In both decisions the debt collector responded to a request to send written 

materials to the consumer’s lawyer and failed to include the §1692e(11) 

disclosures in the response. The courts held that repeated disclosures were not 

needed when dealing with the consumer’s lawyer, a “learned intermediary.” 

Dikeman, supra, at 950; Ignatowski, supra, at 189 and note 5. Significantly, both 

decisions contrasted the situation similar to those at bar in which the debt collector 

communicates directly with the consumer:  

We do not by this decision hold that the disclosure requirement can be 
satisfied without a verbal statement in the case of a direct 
communication with the debtor simply because the debtor happens to 
be knowledgeable about the law or even a practicing lawyer. 
[Dikeman, supra, at 954n14.] 
 
This decision does not hold that the disclosure requirement can be 
satisfied without fulfilling the statutory requirements in the case of 
direct communication with the debtor merely because the debtor is a 
sophisticated consumer or is informed about the law or a practicing 
lawyer. [Ignatowski, supra, at 190n7 (emphasis in original).] 
 

Defendant then cites Foti, supra regarding a January 26 returned call from the 

consumer to the debt collector who was deemed to make sufficient disclosures to 

satisfy 15 U.S.C. §1692e(11). But, like the messages here, the January 18 message 

in Foti was found to violate 15 U.S.C. §1692e(11). 

 Thus, there is no contextual exception relieving a debt collector from 

making the required disclosures when communicating with the consumer. 
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CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court deny 

Defendant’s motion to dismiss or, in the alternative, grant Plaintiffs leave to 

amend. 

 Respectfully submitted, 
WACKS & HARTMAN, LLC 
s/Philip D. Stern 

Dated: November 2, 2009 Philip D. Stern 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 
 

 
DOLORES KRUG, an individual; 
BRUCE HUFFMAN, an individual;  
DONALD MARSO, an individual; and 
JONATHAN SUPLER, an individual; 
on behalf of themselves and all others 
similarly situated, 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
FOCUS RECEIVABLES 
MANAGEMENT, LLC, a Georgia 
Limited Liability Company;  and JOHN 
AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1 
THROUGH 50,  
 
  Defendants. 
 
 

Case 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD 
 

NOTICE OF OBJECTION 

 
Plaintiffs give Notice of Objection to consideration of Defendant’s Reply 

Brief, Docket Document No. 10, for violation of the page limitation under L.Civ.R. 

7.2; however, Plaintiffs request that this objection be deemed waived if their 

separately filed request for leave to file a sur-reply brief is granted. 
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L.Civ.R. 7.2(b) requires reply briefs, excluding tables of contents and 

authorities, to be no greater than 15 pages but, under L.Civ.R. 7.2(d), if a 12-point 

proportional font is used, the page limitation is reduced by 25%. Thus, by 

Defendant’s use of a 12-point proportional font, the reply brief was limited to 11¼ 

pages but Defendant filed a 15-page brief. 

  Respectfully, 
Philip D. Stern & Associates, LLC 
s/Philip D. Stern 

Dated: November 10, 2009 Philip D. Stern 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 
 

DOLORES KRUG, an individual; 
BRUCE HUFFMAN, an individual;  
DONALD MARSO, an individual; and 
JONATHAN SUPLER, an individual; 
on behalf of themselves and all others 
similarly situated, 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
FOCUS RECEIVABLES 
MANAGEMENT, LLC, a Georgia 
Limited Liability Company;  and JOHN 
AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1 
THROUGH 50,  
 
  Defendants. 

Case 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD 
 

NOTICE OF REQUEST 
FOR LEAVE 

TO FILE SUR-REPLY BRIEF 

 
Plaintiffs, Dolores Krug, Bruce Huffman, Donald Marso, and Jonathan 

Supler, through their attorney, request leave to file a sur-reply brief pursuant to 

L.Civ.R. 7.1(d)(6), for the following reasons: 

1. On November 9, 2009, Defendant filed a Reply Brief, Docket Document No. 

10. The Brief exceeds the page limitation. See, L.Civ.R. 7.2(b) as adjusted 
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by L.Civ.R. 7.2(d). Plaintiffs filed a notice of objection but would ask that 

the objection be deemed waived if this request for leave is granted. 

2. In its Reply Brief  – but not in its initial moving papers – Defendant argued 

that the Foti line of cases (which are the cases on which Plaintiffs assert 

liability) only apply when messages are “used to initiate collection 

activities.” Dkt. 10 at pp. 12 (emphasis added). Defendant misreads the cases 

and, in one situation, takes a quote out of context. In a Sur-Reply Plaintiff 

would address this issue. 

3. Defendant also argued that certain precedents cited by Plaintiffs should be 

distinguished as they involved debt collectors who were insolvent. Without 

evidence, Defendant contends that it is “not insolvent,” Dkt. 10 at p. 4. 

Plaintiffs request the opportunity to explain why, in the absence of evidence, 

it should not be assumed that Defendant is not insolvent. 

4. Defendant also made several mischaracterizations of Plaintiffs’ arguments. 

Plaintiffs do not seek to re-argue those points but desire to succinctly clarify 

the issues. 

For these reasons, Plaintiffs request leave to file a sur-reply brief of no more than 

five pages. 

 Respectfully, 
Philip D. Stern & Associates, LLC 
s/Philip D. Stern 

Dated: November 10, 2009 Philip D. Stern 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

DELORES KRUG, et al., :
: HONORABLE JOSEPH E. IRENAS

Plaintiffs, :
:  CIV. ACTION NO. 09-4310(JEI/AMD)

v. :
: ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’

FOCUS RECEIVABLES MANAGEMENT, : REQUEST TO FILE AN OVER-LENGTH
LLC, : REPLY BRIEF AND GRANTING

: PLAINTIFF’S REQUEST TO FILE 
Defendant. : A FIVE PAGE SUR-REPLY

APPEARANCES:

PHILIP D. STERN & ASSOCIATES, LLC
By: Philip D. Stern, Esq.
55 Madison Avenue, Suite 320A
Morristown, New Jersey 07960

Counsel for Plaintiffs

BUDD LARNER, P.C.
By: Virginia A. Pallotto, Esq.
150 J.F.K. Parkway, Third Floor
Short Hills, New Jersey 07078

Counsel for Defendant

IRENAS, Senior District Judge:

Presently before the Court are: (1) Plaintiff’s “Notice of

Objection” to Defendant’s over-length reply brief and request to

file a sur-reply; and (2) Defendant’s request that the Court

grant it permission, nunc pro tunc, to file an over-length reply

brief and objection to Plaintiff’s request to file a sur-reply;

and it appearing that:
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(1) Plaintiff Krug and three other individual

plaintiffs have filed this class action lawsuit alleging that

Defendant Focus Receivables Management, LLC has violated the Fair

Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq.

(2) Focus Receivables has moved to dismiss the Complaint

pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).  Its moving brief is 25

pages long.

(3) Plaintiffs filed a 38-page opposition brief.

(4) Focus Receivables filed a 21-page reply brief, which

exceeds the page limit set forth in L. Civ. R. 7.2(b) and (d).

(5) Plaintiffs have filed on the docket a letter indicating

that they “object” to the reply brief, but do not ask the Court

for any relief.  Instead, they ask the Court to “deem the

objection waived” if the Court grants their request to file a 5-

page sur-reply.

(6) Plaintiffs assert that a sur-reply is necessary, among

other reasons, to address an argument Focus Receivables raised

for the first time in its reply brief.

(7) In response to Plaintiffs’ “objection” and sur-reply

request, Focus Receivables asks this Court to grant it

permission, nunc pro tunc, to file an over-length reply brief,

and deny Plaintiffs’ sur-reply request.  Focus Receivables

2
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contends that no new arguments were raised for the first time in

its reply brief.

(8) All papers submitted in connection with the Motion to

date demonstrate that counsel for both parties have made good

faith arguments in a fairly concise fashion.  The Court concludes

that allowing both Focus Receivables’ over-length reply brief and

Plaintiffs’ 5-page sur-reply will assist the Court in

adjudicating the pending Motion.  Accordingly,

IT IS on this 12  day of November, 2009,th

ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Court hereby grants Focus Receivables leave to file

an over-length reply brief, nunc pro tunc to the day of

its filing.

(2) The Court hereby grants Plaintiffs leave to file a sur-

reply brief, not to exceed 5 pages, by November 19,

2009.

  s/ Joseph E. Irenas              
JOSEPH E. IRENAS
Senior United States District Judge

3
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LEGAL ARGUMENT 
 

POINT ONE: DEFENDANT’S NEW INITIAL-CONTACT ARGUMENT 
IS BASED ENTIRELY ON EXTRACTING SNIPPETS 
OUT OF CONTEXT  

 
 Defendant’s Motion seeks to dismiss Plaintiffs’ claims on the merits. 

Defendant argued that the telephone messages are not “communications” under the 

FDCPA and, consequently, do not trigger the Act’s mandatory disclosures. In 

addition, Defendant contended that, under some circumstances, the context in 

which the messages were left act to relieve it of any duty to disclose, and, 

consequently, Plaintiffs’ failure to allege context renders the Complaint so 

deficient as to warrant dismissal with no right to amend. 

Defendant’s Motion cited two cases in support of its context argument. See 

Point IV in Dkt. 5-2. Plaintiffs’ response showed that, in both decisions, the debt 

collector sent written communications transmitting consumer-requested 

information to the consumer’s attorney without the required disclosures. Both 

courts held that such disclosures would be a needless formality when dealing with 

a “learned intermediary” who was expecting a communication from the known 

debt collector. Both courts cautioned, though, that when communicating directly 

with the consumer – even when the consumer is a practicing attorney – the 

disclosures are mandatory. 
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In its reply, Defendant shifts its context argument to assert, for the first time, 

that context also includes whether the telephone messages were an initial 

communication because, according to Defendant, the Foti-line of cases are limited 

to telephone messages “used to initiate collection activities.” Dkt. 10 at p. 17 of 21. 

Defendant’s argument has no basis and relies on misconstruing the cases. 

Defendant begins with Foti v. NCO Fin. Sys., 424 F. Supp. 2d 643 

(S.D.N.Y. 2006) and its discussion of Hosseinzadeh v. M.R.S. Assocs., Inc., 387 F. 

Supp. 2d 1104 (C.D. Cal. 2005), extracting a single sentence to suggest that 

disclosures are only required at the initial stage of communication. When read 

together with the entire paragraph, the sentence’s real meaning becomes apparent.  

Outside the Second Circuit, at least one court has rejected the very claim 
made by Defendant. In Hosseinzadeh […], the debt collector argued that its 
standard voicemail messages to debtors were not “communications” under 
the FDCPA because “they did not convey[] information regarding a debt 
directly or indirectly to any person.” Id. at 1115 (omitting quotations) 
(brackets in original). In rejecting the argument, the court held: 

While the messages may not technically mention specific information 
about a debt or the nature of the call, § 1692a(2) applies to 
information conveyed “directly or indirectly.” Defendant conveyed 
information to plaintiff, including the fact that there was an important 
matter that she should attend to and instructions on how to do so. 

Id. at 1116. Further, as is evident from Plaintiffs’ allegations in this case, the 
Hosseinzadeh court found it significant that the voicemails “were merely the 
first step in a process designed to communicate with plaintiff about her 
alleged debt.” Id. 
 

Foti, at 655 (footnotes omitted). Thus, the Foti court, when deciding that the 

telephone message was a “communication” requiring disclosures, observed that, 
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although no specifics about a debt were revealed in the message, it was 

nevertheless a communication because it was intended to start the dialogue. Foti 

did not hold that disclosures are only required in initial messages. 

Defendant’s quotes from Leyse v. Corporate Collection Servs., 2006 U.S. 

Dist. LEXIS 67719 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 18, 2006) and Hosseinzadeh, supra, are also 

taken out of context. Those two decisions also rejected the argument that the 

messages were not communications because, like Foti, the messages were intended 

to begin a dialogue with the consumer about the debt. 

Defendant’s argument attempting to limit disclosures under §1692e(11) to 

the initial communication also conflicts with the statute’s expressed terms: “The 

failure to disclose in the initial written communication … and the failure to 

disclose in subsequent communications…” 

Perhaps the most egregious of Defendant’s misquotes is of Costa v. Nat'l 

Action Fin. Servs., 634 F. Supp. 2d 1069 (E.D. Cal. 2007). Below is the entire 

sentence from Costa with the part Defendant quoted underscored. 

Therefore, the court finds that the requirement of § 1692e(11) does 
not apply to the subsequent calls plaintiff made to defendant after 
Elizabeth [the collector] disclosed during the initial phone 
conversation that the calls were in regards to collection on plaintiff’s 
NextCard account. [Emphasis added.] 
 

Costa, supra at 1076-1077. Read as a complete sentence, it has nothing to do with 

leaving telephone messages. Rather, it addressed whether disclosures were 

pds1437 

Page 6 of 8 

Case 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD   Document 15    Filed 11/19/09   Page 6 of 8



required when the consumer returns a telephone call following an initial telephone 

call in which the disclosures were made. The Costa court never held, as Defendant 

suggests, that the §1692e(11) disclosures are not required when a debt collector 

leaves an answering machine message following an initial communication. 

POINT TWO: DEFENDANT INFUSES ITS SOLVENCY – A NEW FACT 
WITHOUT ANY EVIDENTIAL SUPPORT – WHICH 
ONLY SERVES TO FURTHER UNDERSCORE THE 
PREMATURE NATURE OF ITS MOTION 

   
Defendant’s Motion also requested dismissal of class claims based 

exclusively on the proposition that a de minimis individual recovery bars class 

certification. Defendant, assuming the FDCPA’s maximum allowable damages and 

asserting that a nationwide class consists of two million members, argued that 

“Plaintiffs’ complaint cannot meet [Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(b)(3)’s superiority] 

requirement now or at the class certification stage.” Dkt. 5-2 at p. 6 of 25 

(emphasis added). 

Plaintiffs’ response demonstrated that many de minimis cases have been 

certified as class actions because a minimal individual recovery is merely one of 

many factors to be considered when making a determination as to predominance 

and superiority under Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(b)(3). Indeed, one such case, Barkouras v. 

Hecker, 2006 U.S. Dist. Lexis 88998 (D.N.J. Dec. 8, 2006), is from this District. 

In its reply, Defendant sought to distinguish Barkouras on the basis that the 

debt collector was insolvent. In doing so, Defendant raises – for the first time – that 
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it “is not insolvent.” Dkt. 10 at p. 9 of 21. This new fact is not supported by any 

evidence. Moreover, without disclosing its net worth, Defendant also suggests that 

its “net worth is far less than the $500,000 cap.” Dkt. 10 at footnote 1 on p. 10 of 

21. By introducing a new fact in its reply, Defendant has demonstrated that there 

are indeed factors other than a de minimis recovery to be considered, such as 

Defendant’s solvency. All factors relevant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(b)(3) should be 

considered and Defendant’s new proffer further demonstrates that the record in this 

case is not sufficiently developed to make a determination now. 

Defendant also sought to distinguish or re-characterize many of the cases 

cited in Plaintiffs’ response. A reading of those cases will bear out the merits of 

Plaintiffs’ arguments. 

CONCLUSION 
 
 For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court deny 

Defendant’s motion to dismiss or, in the alternative, grant Plaintiffs leave to 

amend. 

 Respectfully submitted, 
PHILIP D. STERN & ASSOCIATES, LLC 
s/Philip D. Stern 

Dated: November 19, 2009 Philip D. Stern 
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 Plaintiffs request that, in connection with Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss [Doc. 5], the 

Court allow submission of supplemental authority, specifically, Nicholas v. CMRE Fin. Servs., 

2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 25373 (D.N.J. March 16, 2010) in Christine M. Nicholas vs. CMRE 

Financial Services, Inc., Case 2:08-cv-04857-JLL-CCC (“CMRE Case”), a copy is attached to 

this Request as Exhibit A. 

In support of this request, Plaintiffs say: 
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1. Although the CMRE Case involves different parties than those in this action, both 

cases involve a proposed class action by consumers against a debt collectors for violating the 

Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §1692 et seq. based on voice mail and answering 

machine messages left by those debt collectors for consumers which failed to make the 

statutorily required disclosures. 

2. Plaintiffs’ counsel and Defendant’s counsel in both cases are the same. 

3. Defense counsel filed a motion to dismiss under Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6). Doc. 5. 

4. In the CMRE Case, defense counsel filed a motion to dismiss under Fed.R.Civ.P. 

12(b)(6). CMRE Case Doc. 14. 

5. The motions in both the CMRE Case and the present case raise identical 

arguments. Compare, Doc. 5-2 at page 2 with CMRE Case Doc. 14-2 at page 2, and CMRE Case 

Doc. 20 at page 2 (a copy of those pages are attached as Exhibit B). 

6. The opinion in the CMRE Case disposes of all issues raised by Defendant’s 

Motion. 

7. In light of Judge Cavanaugh’s decision, Defendant should withdraw the present 

Motion [Doc. 5]. If Defendant does not withdraw that Motion, Plaintiffs respectfully request that 

the Court consider Judge Cavanaugh’s decision in the CMRE Case. 

 Respectfully submitted, 
Philip D. Stern & Associates, LLC 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs, Dolores Krug, Bruce 
Huffman, Donald Marso, and Jonathan Supler 
s/Philip D. Stern 

Dated: March 23, 2010 Philip D. Stern 
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LEXSEE 2010 U.S. DIST. LEXIS 25373

CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS, an individual; on behalf of herself and all others
similarly situated, Plaintiff v. CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC., a California

Corporation; and JOHN and JANE DOES NUMBERS 1 THROUGH 25,
Defendants.

Civil Action No. 08-CV-4857 (DMC)

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 25373

March 16, 2010, Decided
March 16, 2010, Filed

NOTICE: NOT FOR PUBLICATION

COUNSEL: [*1] For CHRISTINE M. NICHOLAS, an
individual; on behalf of herself and all others similarly
situated, Plaintiff: PHILIP D. STERN, LEAD
ATTORNEY, PHILIP D. STERN & ASSOCIATES,
LLC, MAPLEWOOD, NJ.

For CMRE FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC., a California
Corporation, Defendant: JOSEPH J. SCHIAVONE,
LEAD ATTORNEY, DAVID A. NILES, JASON THOR
WATSON, VIRGINIA A. PALLOTTO, BUDD
LARNER, PC, SHORT HILLS, NJ.

JUDGES: Hon. Dennis M. Cavanaugh, United States
District Judge.

OPINION BY: Dennis M. Cavanaugh

OPINION

DENNIS M. CAVANAUGH, U.S.D.J.:

This matter comes before the Court upon motion by
CMRE Financial Services, Inc. ("Defendant") to dismiss
the Amended Complaint pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P.
12(b)(6). Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 78, no oral argument
was heard. After considering the submissions of all

parties, it is the decision of this Court for the reasons
herein expressed that Defendant's motion is denied.

I. BACKGROUND 1

1 These facts presented here have been adopted
from the parties' respective submissions.

On September 30, 2008, Christine M. Nicholas
("Plaintiff") filed an initial class action Complaint,
individually and on behalf of all other putative class
members. Plaintiff asserted claims pursuant to the Fair
Debt Collection Practices [*2] Act ("FDCPA") and the
Telephone Consumer Protection Act ("TCPA") against
moving Defendant and twenty-five other fictitious
Defendants. On November 6, 2008, Defendant filed a
motion for a more definite statement. On July 9, 2009,
Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint ("Am. Compl."),
abandoning the original TCPA claims as no longer viable
in light of applicable case law. On July 23, 2009,
Defendant filed a motion to dismiss in connection with
the Amended Complaint.

Prior to May 27, 2007, Plaintiff sought medical
services at East Valley Whittier Community Hospital.
Thereafter, Plaintiff began to receive pre-recorded
telephonic messages transcribed as follows:
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We are calling on behalf of -
Intercommunity E Slash R M E D Group.
This message is concerning an important
business matter intended only for -
Christine Cohen. If you are this person,
please contact us at 1-800-783-9118,
extension - 450. And when calling, please
refer to Reference Number - 5907994. If
you are not this person, please disregard
this message and hang-up.

Am. Compl., P 28-31. The respective dates of these
messages, as alleged by Plaintiff, include October 2,
2007, October 9, 2007, October 30, 2007 and November
15, 2007. [*3] Plaintiff alleges that the telephone number
contained in the voicemail is answered by debt collectors
from CMRE. Plaintiff believes that the calls were the
product of an alleged and disputed debt arising from the
medical services previously sought by Plaintiff at East
Valley Whittier Community Hospital. Plaintiff contends
that the voicemails constituted false, deceptive and
misleading communications. The Amended Complaint
identifies a nationwide class, subject to certain
exceptions, consisting of all persons who received a
voicemail from CMRE "in a connection with the
collection of a debt, which message failed to identify
CMRE as the caller, disclose that the communication was
from a debt collector, or state that the purpose or nature
of the call was to collect a debt."

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The [d]istrict [c]ourt, in deciding a motion under
Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), [is] required to accept as true all
factual allegations in the complaint and draw all
inferences in the facts alleged in the light most favorable
to the [Plaintiff]." Phillips v. County of Allegheny, 515
F.3d 224, 228 (3d Cir. 2008). "While a complaint
attacked by a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss does not
need detailed [*4] factual allegations, [ ] a plaintiff's
obligation to provide the 'grounds' of his 'entitle[ment] to
relief' requires more than labels and conclusions, and a
formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of action
will not do." Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544,
555, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 167 L. Ed. 2d 929 (2007). "[A court
is] not bound to accept as true a legal conclusion couched
as a factual allegation." Papasan v. Allain, 478 U.S. 265,
286, 106 S. Ct. 2932, 92 L. Ed. 2d 209 (1986). "Factual
allegations must be enough to raise a right to relief above
a speculative level, [ ] on the assumption that all factual

allegations in the complaint are true (even if doubtful in
fact)." Bell at 555-56.

III. DISCUSSION

A. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3) - Superiority Requirement

Defendant contends that Plaintiff's Amended
Complaint fails to satisfy the superiority requirement of
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(3). Specifically,
Defendant alleges that the alleged prospective class is
likely to consist of thousands, or even millions of
members, and therefore, any prospective relief would
result in de minimus recovery as a consequence of the
statutory cap on damages authorized pursuant to the
"FDCPA." Therefore, Defendant claims that the
Amended Complaint should be [*5] dismissed with
respect to the putative class because the proposed class
action is not the superior method of adjudication. Plaintiff
contends that the proposed class likely numbers in the
hundreds, and perhaps thousands, but not the tens of
thousands or even millions as suggested by Defendant.
Further, Plaintiff argues that even if the putative class
number rose to the millions, de minimus recovery is not
an automatic bar to a class action.

"The FDCPA sets a $ 1000 statutory limit on
damages awarded in a private actions." Weiss v. Regal
Collections, 385 F.3d 337, 340 n.3 (3d Cir. 2004) (citing
15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)). "The statute also limits the
amount of damages recoverable in a class action to the
'lesser of $ 500,000 or 1 per centum of the net worth of
the debt collector.'" Id. (citing 15 U.S.C. §
1692k(a)(2)(B)).

To certify a class, Rule 23(a) requires that there be
numerosity, commonality, typicality and adequacy of
representation. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a). If Rule 23(a) is
satisfied, a class action may be maintained where "the
court finds that the questions of law or fact common to
class members predominate over any questions affecting
only individual members, and that a class action [*6] is
superior to other available methods for fairly and
efficiently adjudicating the controversy." Fed. R. Civ. P.
23(b)(3). Relevant considerations include the following:

(A) the class members' interests in
individually controlling the prosecution or
defense of separate actions;

(B) the extent and nature of any
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litigation concerning the controversy
already begun by or against class
members;

(C) the desirability or undesirability
of concentrating the litigation of the
claims in the particular forum; and

(D) the likely difficulties in managing
a class action.

"The superiority requirement 'asks the court to balance, in
terms of fairness and efficiency, the merits of a class
action against those of alternative available methods of
adjudication.'" In re Warafin Sodium Antitrust Litig., 391
F.3d 516, 534 (3d Cir. 2004). In that case, the Warafin
Court stated,

[n]otably, there are a potentially large
number of class members in this matter,
including some 2 million consumers and
potentially thousands of TPPs. However,
individual consumer class members have
little interest in "individually controlling
the prosecution or defense of separate
actions," Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3)(A),
because each consumer [*7] has a very
small claim in relation to the cost of
prosecuting a lawsuit. Thus, from the
consumers' standpoint, a class action
facilitates spreading of the litigation costs
among the numerous injured parties and
encourages private enforcement of the
statutes. [internal citation omitted].

Id. Assuming, without concluding, as Defendants contend
that the putative class members number in the millions,
efficiency and fairness militate toward class action
litigation, rather than timely, duplicative and costly
adjudication in potentially millions of suits by individual
claimants.

Similarly, in Stair v. Thomas & Cook, the United
States District Court for the District of New Jersey
certified a class in a FDCPA claim consisting of 46
members and permitting recovery on an individual basis
of $ 59.78 per claimant from a fund of $ 2,750. 2009 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 48706, at *5 n.2 (D.N.J. June 10, 2009);
compare Leyse v. Corporate Collection Services, 2006
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 67719, at *25 n.5. (S.D.N.Y. Sep. 18,
2006). At this time, reading the Amended Complaint in

the light most favorable to Plaintiff, the Court declines to
dismiss the putative class based on an alleged de minimus
recovery. Therefore, Defendant's [*8] motion is denied.

B. 15 U.S.C. § 1692 - Communication

Defendant contends that the disputed messages do
not convey information regarding debt, therefore, the
messages do not constitute communications pursuant to
the FDCPA. Further, Defendant alleges that in the
absence of a viable claim pursuant to the FDCPA, the
representative action must be dismissed for lack of
typicality. Additionally, Defendant asserts that Plaintiff
fails to plead the factual context in which the
communication arose, specifically whether the voicemail
constituted an initial contact or a continuation of prior
collection efforts.

By contrast, Plaintiff asserts that the message,
identifying a creditor and debt collection reference
number, qualifies as a communication in connection to an
alleged debt. Further, in contrast to 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, a
'communication' as defined by that provision is not
required with respect to the application of the disclosure
provisions contained in 15 U.S.C. § 1692d.

The goal of the FDCPA is to "eliminat[e] abusive
debt collection practices by debt collectors . . . [and]
insur[e] that [*9] those debt collectors who refrain from
using abusive debt collection practices are not
competitively disadvantaged." Campuzano-Burgos v.
Midland Credit Mgmt, 550 F.3d 294, 298 (3d Cir. 2008).
Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692a, "[t]he term
'communication' means the conveying of information
regarding a debt directly or indirectly to any person
through any medium." "[G]iven the choice language by
Congress,"

the FDCPA should be interpreted to
cover communications that convey,
directly or indirectly, any information
relating to a debt, and not just when the
debt collector discloses specific
information about the particular debt being
collected. Indeed, a narrow reading of the
term 'communication' to exclude instances
such as the present case where no specific
information about a debt is explicitly
conveyed could create a significant
loophole in the FDCPA, allowing debtors
to circumvent the § 1692e(11) disclosure
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requirement, and other provisions of the
FDCPA that have a threshold
'communication' requirement, merely by
not conveying specific information about
the debt.

Foti v. NCO Fin. Sys., 424 F. Supp. 2d 643, 657
(S.D.N.Y. 2006). At the same time, "[a] phone call by a
debt collector that in no [*10] way regards, or relates to,
an outstanding debt would not violate the Act." Id. "In
determining whether there is a violation of § 1692e,
courts apply the least sophisticated consumer test." Id. at
668.

The voicemail left on Plaintiff's cell phone may be
transcribed as follows:

We are calling on behalf of -
Intercommunity E Slash R M E D Group.
This message is concerning an important
business matter intended only for -
Christine Cohen. If you are this person,
please contact us at 1-800-783-9118,
extension - 450. And when calling, please
refer to Reference Number - 5907994. If
you are not this person, please disregard
this message and hang-up.

Am. Compl., P 28-31.

Defendant does not assert that voicemail on
Plaintiff's cell phone was in relation to something other
than debt collection, but instead contends that in failing
to convey words concerning the alleged debt, the
message is exempt from the definition of communication
within the FDCPA. Defendant also seeks to impose a
heightened pleading standard, requiring that Plaintiff
plead the context in which the individual messages arose.
The Court disagrees.

With respect to Defendant's argument that Plaintiff is
required to plead the context [*11] of the
communication, the Court disagrees. First, Defendant is
misguided in citing the Costa v. Nat'l Action Fin. Servs
case. 634 F. Supp. 2d 1069 (E.D. Cal. 2007). That case
holds that subsequent calls initiated by a debtor to a
creditor, not a creditor to a debtor, do not require a
creditor to extend the standard requisite disclosures
mandated by 15 U.S.C. § 1692e. Id. at 1076. Defendant's
reliance upon Leyse is similarly misplaced. There, the

Leyse Court determined that pre-recorded messages,
despite the failure of the caller to identify itself as a
creditor, or agent of a creditor, and despite the failure to
identify the message as pertaining to debt or finance,
constituted a communication with the meaning of the §
1692e. Defendant attempts to present the Court with a
convoluted argument hinging on the context in which the
communication arose. Regardless of whether the
communication is an effort to initiate communication or
subsequent to an initial communication, it is clear that the
conveyance is subject to the provisions of 15 U.S.C. §
1692e(11). In accordance with that provision,

[t]he failure to disclose in the initial
written communication with the consumer
and, in addition, [*12] if the initial
communication with the consumer is oral,
in that initial oral communication, that the
debt collector is attempting to collect a
debt and that any information obtained
will be used for that purpose, and the
failure to disclose in subsequent
communications that the communication
is from a debt collector [constitutes a
violation].

15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11). Despite this provision, Defendant
seeks to impose an unfounded contextual distinction and
heightened pleading standard that is not otherwise
required with respect to Plaintiff's FDCPA claim.

Moreover, to the extent that Reference Number -
5907994 relates to collection of a debt, the message
constitutes a direct communication in accordance with
the definition articulated by 15 U.S.C. § 1692e. At the
same time, if debt collection serves as the underlying
purpose of the messages extended to Plaintiff, then the
voicemails constitute an indirect communication in
accordance with the definition articulated by 15 U.S.C. §
1692e. The Court will not permit Defendant to obviate
liability by encrypting messages otherwise intended to
extend communications concerning debt collection. On
this ground, Defendant's motion is denied.

C. Judicial [*13] Notice

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(d), "[i]f, on motion
under Rule 12(b)(6) [ ], matters outside the pleadings are
presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion
must be treated as one for summary judgment under Rule

Page 4
2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 25373, *9
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56. All parties must be given a reasonable opportunity to
present all the material that is pertinent to the motion."

Pursuant to that Fed. R. Evid. 201, "[a] judicially
noticed fact must be one not subject to reasonable dispute
in that it is either (1) generally known within the
territorial jurisdiction of the trial court or (2) capable of
accurate and ready determination by resort to sources
whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned." Fed.
R. Evid. 201. Further, "[a] 'document integral to or
explicitly relied upon in the complaint' may be considered
'without converting the motion [to dismiss] into one for
summary judgment.'" Kent v. Tabafunda, 2008 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 47649, *9 (D.N.J. June 19, 2008); See Pension
Benefit Guar. Corp. v. White Consol. Indus., 998 F.2d
1192, 1196 (3d Cir. 1993) ("We now hold that a court
may consider an undisputedly authentic document that a
defendant attaches as an exhibit to a motion to dismiss if
the plaintiff's claims are [*14] based on the document.").
"Any further expansion beyond the pleading, however,
may require conversion of the motion into one for
summary judgment." Id.; Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(d).

By way of reply, Defendant requests that the Court
take judicial notice of the original Complaint and an
affidavit filed by Defendant in accordance with the
instant motion. Although the initial Complaint is a matter

of public record, the Complaint has been amended. The
Court is cognizant of the inconsistency underscored by
Defendant with respect to the alleged population of the
prospective class. At the same time, pursuant to Fed. R.
Civ. P. 12(b)(6), the Court is required to treat the
allegations contained in the Amended Complaint as true
for purposes of this motion. Further, the affidavit
Defendant seeks to admit is premised upon the contention
that an excessive amount of potential claimants exist
diluting prospective recovery. This allegation is in direct
contrast to Plaintiff's contention that around a thousand
claimants exist. In light of this disputed claimant
population, judicial notice of the affidavit is improper.
For purposes of the instant motion, Defendant's request
for judicial notice is denied.

IV. [*15] CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants' motion to
dismiss Plaintiff's Amended Complaint is denied. An
appropriate Order accompanies this Opinion.

/S/ Dennis M. Cavanaugh

Dennis M. Cavanaugh, U.S.D.J.

Dated: March 16, 2010

Page 5
2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 25373, *13
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

 
 
 

 
DOLORES KRUG, an individual; et al., 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
FOCUS RECEIVABLES MANAGEMENT, 
LLC, a Georgia Limited Liability Company;  
et al.,  
 
  Defendants. 
 

Case 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD 
 

ORDER 
GRANTING REQUEST TO SUBMIT 

SUPPLEMENTAL AUTHORITY 

 
On March 23, 2010, Plaintiffs, Dolores Krug, Bruce Huffman, Donald Marso, and 

Jonathan Supler, filed a request to supplement its opposition to Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss 

under Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) and submits a decision decided after that Motion was taken under 

submission and request the Court consider that decision as additional authority. 

Good cause appearing, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED: 

1. Plaintiff’s request to submit supplemental authority is GRANTED; and 

2. Defendant may file a response discussing the supplemental authority on or before 

______________, 2010. 

 SO ORDERED: 
 
 
 

Dated:   
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PHILIP D. STERN & ASSOCIATES, LLC 
697 Valley Street, Suite 2D 
Maplewood, NJ 07040-2642 
Telephone:  (973) 379-7500 
Attorney of Record: Philip D. Stern 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs, Dolores Krug, Bruce 
Huffman, Donald Marso, Jonathan Supler, and 
all others similarly situated 
 
 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

 
 
DOLORES KRUG, an individual; et al., 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
FOCUS RECEIVABLES MANAGEMENT, 
LLC, a Georgia Limited Liability Company;  
et al.,  
 
  Defendants. 
 

Case No.: 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 On March 23, 2010, I served the foregoing document(s) to the person(s) at the 

address(es) setforth on the attached service list using the Court’s Case Management / Electronic 

Case Filing System for the above entitled case to those parties on the Service List who are 

registered with the Court’s CM/ECF System for this case. 

 
 
Dated: March 23, 2010 

 
s/Philip D. Stern 

 PHILIP D. STERN 
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Short Hills, NJ 07078-0999  
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Attorneys for Defendant, Focus Receivables Management, LLC 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

 
 
DOLORES KRUG, an individual; et al., 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
FOCUS RECEIVABLES MANAGEMENT, 
LLC, a Georgia Limited Liability Company;  
et al.,  
 
  Defendants. 
 

Case 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD 
 

REPLY 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 Plaintiffs, Dolores Krug, Bruce Huffman, Donald Marso, and Jonathan Supler, submit 

this Memorandum in reply to the opposition [Doc. 17] filed by Defendant, Focus Receivables 

Management, in opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion [Doc. 16] to submit supplemental authority. For 

the following reasons, no brief is necessary. 

 Plaintiffs’ Motion sought leave to submit CMRE Financial decision for consideration by 

this Court and to afford Defendant time within which to submit any arguments concerning that 

decision. See Plaintiffs’ proposed Order [Doc 16-1]. 

“Focus does not dispute that the Plaintiffs have the right to bring the CMRE Financial 

decision to this Court’s attention.” Doc. 17 at page 2. Thus, Defendant has, in effect, consented 

to Plaintiffs’ Motion and, by arguing that this Court should not follow the CMRE Financial 

decision, has taken the opportunity to address that decision. 
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Defendant argues that the CMRE Financial decision is not binding authority and that the 

messages left by CMRE are materially different than those left by Defendant. For the sake of 

brevity, Plaintiffs acknowledge the obvious: namely, the messages are not identical. The 

distinctions are without a difference as all of the messages fail to comply with the FDCPA. 

For these reasons, the request that the Court consider the CMRE Financial decision 

should be granted without the need for further briefing.  

 Philip D. Stern & Associates, LLC 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs, Dolores Krug, Bruce 
Huffman, Donald Marso, and Jonathan Supler 
s/Philip D. Stern 

Dated:  April 5, 2010 Philip D. Stern 
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 On April 5, 2010, I served the foregoing document(s) to the person(s) at the address(es) 

setforth on the attached service list using the Court’s Case Management / Electronic Case Filing 

System for the above entitled case to those parties on the Service List who are registered with the 

Court’s CM/ECF System for this case. 

 
 
Dated: April 5, 2010 

 
s/Philip D. Stern 

 PHILIP D. STERN 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1 of 2 

Case 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD   Document 18-1    Filed 04/05/10   Page 1 of 2



Page 2 of 2 

SERVICE LIST 

 
Virginia A. Pallotto, Esq. 
Jason T. Watson, Esq.  
BUDD LARNER, P.C.  
150 John F. Kennedy Parkway 
Short Hills, NJ 07078-0999  
Telephone:  (973) 379-4800  
vpallotto@budd-larner.com 
jwatson@budd-larner.com 
 
Attorneys for Defendant, Focus Receivables Management, LLC 

 

 

 

Case 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD   Document 18-1    Filed 04/05/10   Page 2 of 2



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

DELORES KRUG, et al., :
: HONORABLE JOSEPH E. IRENAS

Plaintiffs, :
:  CIV. ACTION NO. 09-4310(JEI/AMD)

v. :
: OPINION

FOCUS RECEIVABLES MANAGEMENT, :
LLC, :

:
Defendant. :

APPEARANCES:

PHILIP D. STERN & ASSOCIATES, LLC
By: Philip D. Stern, Esq.
55 Madison Avenue, Suite 320A
Morristown, New Jersey 07960

Counsel for Plaintiffs

BUDD LARNER, P.C.
By: Virginia A. Pallotto, Esq.
150 J.F.K. Parkway, Third Floor
Short Hills, New Jersey 07078

Counsel for Defendant

IRENAS, Senior District Judge:

Plaintiffs Dolores Krug, Bruce Huffman, Donald Marson, and

Jonathan Supler, bring this putative class action lawsuit against

Focus Receivables Management, LLC (“Focus”), alleging that Focus

violated the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA), 15 U.S.C.

§§ 1692 et seq.  Focus moves to dismiss the Complaint pursuant to

Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), and moves to dismiss the class action

allegations.  For the reasons that follow, the Motion will be
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denied without prejudice as to the class action allegations, and

denied with prejudice in all other respects.

I.

The Complaint alleges that at various times throughout 2008

and 2009, Focus attempted to collect debts from each individual

Plaintiff by leaving them several telephonic voicemail messages. 

Each of the alleged messages are similar.  Examples include:

C “‘Hello, please contact Julie Lewis at 866-918-
2469 regarding a personal business matter. 
Again, that number is 866-918-2469.  Thank
you.’” (Compl. ¶ 29)

C “‘This message is for-- Bruce Huffman.  This is
Miss Mack, I am requesting a call back from you
today.  You can contact my office toll-free, 1-
888-379-9266; my direct extension is 2001. 
Again, it is imperative that you do contact my
office today.  This is not a sales or
solicitation call, contact my office, 1-888-379-
9266.’” (Compl. ¶ 37)

C “‘Please call Ashley Boyle at 1-877-623-6287. 
Once again, my number is 1-877-623-6287.  Thank
you.’” (Compl. ¶ 47)

C “‘Please contact the office of Michelle Murray. 
I can be reached at 1-800-514-4778.  This is
regarding an important business matter.  Again,
contact my office at 1-800-514-4778.  Thank
you.’” (Compl. ¶ 56)

None of the alleged messages include the words “debt,”

“collect,” or other similar words.

2
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Plaintiffs assert that these messages violate the FDCPA

because they fail to disclose (a) Focus’s identity; (b) that the

call is from a debt collector; and (c) “the purpose or nature of

the communication (i.e., an attempt to collect a debt).”  (Compl.

¶ 17)

As noted above, Focus moves to dismiss the Complaint.

II.

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) provides that a

court may dismiss a complaint “for failure to state a claim upon

which relief can be granted.”  In order to survive a motion to

dismiss, a complaint must allege facts that raise a right to

relief above the speculative level.  Bell Atlantic Corp. v.

Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007); see also Fed. R. Civ. P.

8(a)(2).  While a court must accept as true all allegations in the

plaintiff’s complaint, and view them in the light most favorable

to the plaintiff, Phillips v. County of Allegheny, 515 F.3d 224,

231 (3d Cir. 2008), a court is not required to accept sweeping

legal conclusions cast in the form of factual allegations,

unwarranted inferences, or unsupported conclusions.  Morse v.

Lower Merion Sch. Dist., 132 F.3d 902, 906 (3d Cir. 1997).  The

complaint must state sufficient facts to show that the legal

allegations are not simply possible, but plausible.  Phillips, 515

3
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F.3d at 234. “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff

pleads factual content that allows the court to draw the

reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the

misconduct alleged.”  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949

(2009).

III.

A.

Focus argues that the alleged voicemail messages do not

constitute “communications” under the FDCPA.  

The FDCPA states,

A debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or
misleading representation or means in connection with
the collection of any debt. Without limiting the
general application of the foregoing, the following
conduct is a violation of this section:

. . .

The failure to disclose in the initial written
communication with the consumer and, in addition, if
the initial communication with the consumer is oral,
in that initial oral communication, that the debt
collector is attempting to collect a debt and that
any information obtained will be used for that
purpose, and the failure to disclose in subsequent
communications that the communication is from a debt
collector . . . .

15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11).

The FDCPA defines “communication” as “the conveying of

information regarding the debt directly or indirectly to any

4
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person through any medium.”  15 U.S.C. § 1692a(2).  According to

Focus, none of the alleged messages conveyed information about the

debt sought to be collected.  Therefore, Focus reasons, Plaintiffs

have not alleged a communication prohibited by the FDCPA.

The arguments with regard to this issue are not new to

either Plaintiffs’ or Defendant’s counsel.  They recently

litigated this very issue before Judge Cavanaugh, who ruled that

voicemail messages similar to those alleged here were

“communications” within the meaning of the FDCPA.  See Nicholas v.

CMRE Financial Servs., Inc., No. 08-cv-4857, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS

25373 at *8-12 (D.N.J. March 16, 2010).   Specifically, Judge1

Cavanaugh denied the defendant’s motion to dismiss, explaining,

“if debt collection serves as the underlying purpose of the

messages extended to Plaintiff, then the voicemails constitute an

indirect communication in accordance with the definition

articulated by 15 U.S.C. § 1692e. . . . Defendant [cannot] obviate

liability by encrypting messages otherwise intended to extend

communications concerning debt collection.”  Id. at *12.

  Philip D. Stern, Esq., appearing on behalf of Plaintiff1

Christine Nicholas; Virginia A. Pallotto, Esq., appearing on
behalf of Defendant CMRE Financial Services, Inc.

Nicholas was decided after this Motion was fully briefed. 
Plaintiffs have moved to submit Nicholas as supplemental
authority.  That Motion will be granted.

5
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Nicholas joins the substantial weight of authority relying

on the reasoning articulated in Foti v. NCO Fin. Sys., 424 F.

Supp. 2d 643 (S.D.N.Y. 2006):

the FDCPA should be interpreted to cover
communications that convey, directly or indirectly,
any information relating to a debt, and not just when
the debt collector discloses specific information
about the particular debt being collected. Indeed, a
narrow reading of the term ‘communication’ to exclude
instances such as the present case where no specific
information about a debt is explicitly conveyed could
create a significant loophole in the FDCPA, allowing
debtors [sic] to circumvent the § 1692e(11)
disclosure requirement, and other provisions of the
FDCPA that have a threshold ‘communication’
requirement, merely by not conveying specific
information about the debt.

Nicholas, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS at *9 (quoting Foti, 424 F. Supp.

2d at 657) (emphasis added by this Court); see also Inman v. NCO

Fin. Sys., No. 08-cv-5866, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 98215 at *8-9

(E.D. Pa. Oct. 21, 2009) (“This Court finds the Foti decision to

be highly instructive, and therefore adopts its reasoning.”); 

Wideman v. Monterey Fin. Servs., No. 08-1331, 2009 U.S. Dist.

LEXIS 38824 at *5-6 (W.D. Pa. May 7, 2009)(citing, among other

authorities, Foti);  Chalik v. Westport Recovery Corp., 677 F.

Supp. 2d 1322 (S.D. Fla. 2009) (“Courts generally consider voice

mail messages from debt collectors to be ‘communications,’ even if

the messages do not state what the calls are regarding”; citing,

among other authorities, Foti);  Edwards v. Niagara Credit

6
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Solutions, Inc., 586 F. Supp. 2d 1346, 1350 (N.D. Ga. 2008)

(holding that “a phone message referencing an ‘important matter’

or similar language may be considered a ‘communication’ under the

FDCPA”; citing, among other authorities, Foti) ;  Ramirez v. Apex2

Fin. Mgmt., LLC, 567 F. Supp. 2d 1035, 1041 (N.D. Ill. 2008)

(“messages left on a debtor’s answering machine can be considered

indirect communications regarding the debt, even if the debt

collector fails to expressly mention that the call pertains to

collection, payment, deadlines or any other observable

characteristics of a collection call.  Any other interpretation

would require a claimant to prove, without exception, that the

debt collector conveyed direct information about the debt.  This

is not what the statute calls for, and this is not the first time

such a narrow interpretation of the statute has been rejected”;

citing, among other authorities, Foti); Hosseinzadeh v. M.R.S.

Assocs., 387 F. Supp. 2d 1104, 1116 (C.D. Cal. 2005) (“While the

messages may not technically mention specific information about a

debt or the nature of the call, § 1692a(2) applies to information

conveyed ‘directly or indirectly.’”).   3

  Affirmed by Edwards v. Niagara Credit Solutions, Inc.,2

584 F.3d 1350 (11th Cir. 2009).

  But see Biggs v. Credit Collections, Inc., No. 07-0053,3

2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 84793 (W.D. Okla. Nov. 15, 2007)(“the
statutory language is oddly narrow. The statutory definition [of
“communication”] does not include messages or communications that

7

Case 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD   Document 19    Filed 05/11/10   Page 7 of 12



The Court agrees with the Floti reasoning and holds that the

Complaint alleges “communications” within the meaning of the

FDCPA.

In an attempt to circumvent the above-cited cases, Focus

futilely argues that “the Foti line of cases were decided based on

the context in which the messages were placed and received.” 

(Def’s Reply Br. at 12)  Focus claims that, because Plaintiffs

fail to allege the context in which their messages were received,

dismissal is still appropriate.  Judge Cavanaugh rejected this

“convoluted” argument, Nicholas, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS at *12, and

this Court does as well.  Plaintiffs are not required to plead, at

the very outset of their case, additional “contextual” facts.  See

id. (“Defendant seeks to impose an unfounded contextual

distinction and heightened pleading standard that is not otherwise

required with respect to Plaintiff’s FDCPA claim.”).

Focus’s Motion with respect to this issue will be denied.

B.

In a variation of its context argument above, Focus asserts

that Plaintiffs’ FDCPA claims under §§ 1692e(11) and 1692d(6) fail

do not impart (or are not at least intended to impart)
information about a debt.”).  Biggs fails to address prior cases
holding otherwise even though the opinion suggests that the
parties cited those cases.

8
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because “nowhere do [Plaintiffs] allege the simple fact of whether

any of the plaintiffs had contact with Focus prior to receiving

the messages. . . . Plaintiffs never allege whether the messages

at issue were attempts to initiate collection efforts or a

continuation of prior collection efforts.”  (Def’s Moving Br. at

19; emphasis in original)  Focus, however, does not explain why

this omission matters, other than to vaguely assert that “context”

should be “considered” when determining whether the FDCPA’s

disclosure requirements have been violated.  (Id.)

Plaintiffs allege that Focus never, in any of its messages,

disclosed its name, nor identified itself as a debt collector. 

This is sufficient to state a claim under both § 1692e(11) and §

1692d(6).  Section 1692e(11) requires a debtor collector to

identify itself as a debt collector in both initial and subsequent

communications.  See 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(11) (prohibiting “[t]he

failure to disclose in the initial . . . communication . . . that

the debt collector is attempting to collect a debt . . . and the

failure to disclose in subsequent communications that the

communication is from a debt collector”).  Similarly, § 1692d(6)

prohibits “the placement of telephone calls without meaningful

disclosure of the caller’s identity.”

The Complaint’s allegations are sufficient to give Focus

“‘fair notice of what the . . . claim[s] [are] and the grounds

9
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upon which [they] rest[].’” Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550

U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (quoting Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 47

(1957)); see Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a) (requiring a “short and plain”

statement of the claims).

Focus’s Motion with respect to this issue will be denied.

C.

Lastly, Focus asserts that the Court should dismiss the class

action allegations because Plaintiffs cannot establish that a

class action suit is superior to individual suits.  See Fed. R.

Civ. P. 23(b)(3) (“A class action may be maintained if . . . the

court finds [among other things] . . . that a class action is

superior to other available methods for fairly and efficiently

adjudicating the controversy”).  Specifically, Focus argues that

because the FDCPA limits damages in class actions to the lesser of

$500,000 or 1 per centum of the net worth of the debt collector,

but allows up to $1000 per plaintiff in individual private suits,

15 U.S.C. 1692k(a)(2)(B), in this case, individual suits are the

superior method because they create the potential for a larger

per-plaintiff recovery.  In other words, certifying this case as a

class action, Focus asserts, will result in only a de minimus per-

plaintiff recovery because the potential class could have over 2

10
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million members, based on Focus’s own investigation of its

records.

Plaintiffs, on the other hand, assert that this issue is not

ripe for decision.

The Court agrees with Plaintiffs.  Plaintiffs should be

afforded at least an opportunity to seek discovery of facts

relevant to Focus’s de minimus argument before the Court rules on

the issue,  and the Court would prefer to decide the issue on a4

more fully developed record.  See generally 7AA Wright, Miller &

Kane, Federal Practice and Procedure § 1785.3 (“As a practical

matter, the court’s [certification] determination usually should

be predicated on more than the complaint itself affords.”); 5-23

Moore’s Federal Practice – Civil § 23.81 (“time for discovery on

certification issues will be appropriate in many cases.”).

Moreover, many additional factors are relevant to the

superiority determination, including

(A) the class members’ interests in individually
controlling the prosecution or defense of separate
actions;

  Focus argues that no discovery is necessary because4

“Plaintiffs do not offer anything to dispute the content of” its
affidavit stating that the size of the proposed class could be
more than 2 million people.  (Def’s Reply Br. at 5)  The Court
fails to see how it can expect Plaintiffs to put forth “anything
to dispute the content of” the affidavit when no discovery has
taken place. 

11

Case 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD   Document 19    Filed 05/11/10   Page 11 of 12



(B) the extent and nature of any litigation
concerning the controversy already begun by or
against class members;

(C) the desirability or undesirability of
concentrating the litigation of the claims in the
particular forum; and

(D) the likely difficulties in managing a class
action.

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3)(A)-(D).  The parties have not briefed

these issues, and for this additional reason, the Court declines

to make any superiority determination at this time.

Focus’s Motion to Dismiss the class action allegations will

be denied without prejudice.

IV.  

For the foregoing reasons, Focus’s Motion to Dismiss the

class action allegations will be denied without prejudice, and the

Motion will be denied with prejudice in all other respects.  An

appropriate Order accompanies this Opinion.

May 11, 2010     s/ Joseph E. Irenas     
Joseph E. Irenas, S.U.S.D.J.

12
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

DELORES KRUG, et al., :
: HONORABLE JOSEPH E. IRENAS

Plaintiffs, :
:  CIV. ACTION NO. 09-4310(JEI/AMD)

v. :
:  ORDER DENYING WITHOUT PREJUDICE

FOCUS RECEIVABLES MANAGEMENT, :  DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS
LLC, :  CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS AND 

:  DENYING WITH PREJUDICE THE MOTION
Defendant. :  IN ALL OTHER RESPECTS (Docket #5)

   AND GRANTING PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION
   TO SUBMIT SUPPLEMENTAL AUTHORITY
   (Docket #16)

APPEARANCES:

PHILIP D. STERN & ASSOCIATES, LLC
By: Philip D. Stern, Esq.
55 Madison Avenue, Suite 320A
Morristown, New Jersey 07960

Counsel for Plaintiffs

BUDD LARNER, P.C.
By: Virginia A. Pallotto, Esq.
150 J.F.K. Parkway, Third Floor
Short Hills, New Jersey 07078

Counsel for Defendant

IRENAS, Senior District Judge:

This matter having appeared before the Court upon Defendant

Focus Receivables Management, LLC’s Motion to Dismiss (Docket #5),

and Plaintiffs’ Motion to Submit Supplemental Authority in further

opposition to the Motion to Dismiss (Docket #16), the Court having

considered the submissions of the parties, and for the reasons set
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forth in an Opinion issued on even date herewith, which findings

of fact and conclusions of law are hereby incorporated by

reference, and for good cause appearing,

IT IS on this 11th day of May, 2010, ORDERED THAT:

(1) The Motion to Dismiss (Docket #5) is hereby DENIED

WITHOUT PREJUDICE as to the class action allegations.

(2) The Motion to Dismiss (Docket #5) is hereby DENIED WITH

PREJUDICE in all other respects.

(3) The Motion to Submit Supplemental Authority (Docket #16)

is hereby GRANTED.

   s/ Joseph E. Irenas     
Joseph E. Irenas, S.U.S.D.J.

2
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

DOLORES KRUG, et al.
: Civil No. 09CV4310

Plaintiff : Judge JOSEPH E. IRENAS
v. :

: Arbitration: Yes__ No _X_
FOCUS RECEIVABLES MANAGEMENT, :
LLC, et al. :

Defendant : Jury: Yes __ No _X_
:
: ORDER FOR SCHEDULING

---------------------------------------------------------------- CONFERENCE

TO:  All Counsel

IT IS on this 25th  Day of MAY, 2010  ORDERED THAT:

(1)  A Scheduling Conference shall be conducted before the undersigned

on JUNE 22, 2010 at 11:00 am in room 2010 of the Mitchell H. Cohen Federal Building

 & U.S. Courthouse, Camden, New Jersey.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 16 and Local Civil Rule 16.1.  

The purpose of the conference is to focus counsel’s attention on the issues actually in dispute and

arrive at a schedule to manage discovery.  The Court strives in all cases for a just, speedy and

inexpensive determination of every action.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 1.  COUNSEL MUST BE 

PREPARED TO COMPLETE ALL DISCOVERY AND BE READY FOR TRIAL WITHIN SIX 

(6) TO EIGHT (8) MONTHS OF THE SCHEDULING CONFERENCE IN MOST CASES.  The

Scheduling Order will reflect these goals.

(2)  Counsel are advised that the early disclosure requirements of Fed. R. Civ. P. 26 (a)(1)

will be strictly enforced.  Therefore, counsel shall immediately exchange the following 

information that may be used by a party to support a claim or defense: contested facts,

Case 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AMD   Document 22    Filed 05/25/10   Page 1 of 4



identities of individuals likely to have knowledge of discoverable facts,

documents and things in the possession of counsel or the party, including
All records of treatment by health care professionals, if a
personal injury is claimed,

insurance agreements in force, and

statement of the basis for any damages claimed.

COUNSEL SHOULD NOT FILE ANY OF THE AFOREMENTIONED WITH THE COURT.

(3)  At least twenty-one (21) days prior to the conference scheduled herein, counsel shall 

confer pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 26 (f), and shall submit a discovery plan to the undersigned not 

later than 24 hours prior to the conference with the Court.  The discovery plan shall include a 

brief summary of the facts of the case, the status of settlement negotiations and shall address the

parties’ views and proposals concerning discovery as set forth in Local Civil Rule 26.1 (b)(2).  

Prior to the Rule 26 (f) conference, counsel shall also comply with Local Civil Rule 26.1 (d) 

concerning discovery of digital information.

(4)  Counsel are further advised that unless the parties stipulate otherwise, and the Court

concurs, the Rules limit the number of interrogatories (25) and depositions (10) which each party

may seek.  See Rules 26 (b), (d).  Fed. R. Civ. P. 30 (d) (2) limits depositions to one day of

seven hours.  The Court may also regulate the conduct of depositions.  See Hall v. Clifton

Precision, 150 F.R.D. 525 (E.D. PA. 1993); Fed. R. Civ. P. 30(d) (1).

(5)  At the conference with the Court, all parties who are not appearing pro se shall be

represented by counsel who shall be familiar with the file and shall have full authority to bind

their clients in all pre-trial matters.  Counsel shall also be prepared to discuss settlement.  

Clients or persons with authority over the matter shall be available by telephone.  See Local

Civil Rule 16.1 (a) (4);
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(6)  Counsel shall consult with their clients before the conference and be prepared to

advise the Magistrate Judge whether the parties consent to trial before the Magistrate Judge.

Local Civil Rule 73.1 (a).

(7)  Counsel shall discuss with clients the Court’s mediation program.  L.Civ.R. 301.1 

(see attached notice).  The Court will discuss mediation and other options at the Initial 

Scheduling Conference.

(8)  Counsel for plaintiff(s) shall notify any party who hereafter enters an appearance, of

the above conference and forward to that party a copy hereof, together with a copy of any

Scheduling Order entered as a result of this conference.

(9)  The parties shall advise the Judge and Magistrate Judge immediately if this matter 

has been settled or terminated so that the above conference may be cancelled;  and

(10)  Failure to comply with the terms hereof may result in the imposition of sanctions.

(11)  Counsel are further advised that communications to the Court by FAX will be

accepted.  All communications to the Court shall be in writing or by telephone conference with

prior approval.

s/ANN MARIE DONIO
                                   United States Magistrate Judge

Orig. Clerk
cc: Magistrate Judge 
     All Counsel
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ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION
            IN THE
    UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
  FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

Mediation is the Alternative Dispute Resolution (“ADR”) program in this Court. 
Mediation is governed by Local Civil Rule 301.1. The mediation program under this rule is
supervised by a judicial officer (at present United States Magistrate Judge Madeline Cox-Arleo)
who is available to answer any questions about the program.

Any district judge or magistrate judge may refer a civil action to mediation.  This may be
done without the consent of the parties.  However, the Court encourages parties to confer among
themselves and consent to mediation.  Moreover, you are reminded that, when counsel confer
pursuant to Rule 26 (f) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and Local Civil Rule 26.1, one of
the topics that must be addressed is the eligibility of a civil action for participation in ADR.

A civil action may be referred to mediation at any time.  However, one of the advantages
of mediation is that, if successful, it enables parties to avoid the time and expense of discovery
and trial.  Accordingly, the Court encourages parties to consent to mediation prior to or at the
time that automatic disclosures are made pursuant to Rule 26 (a) (1) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure.

If parties consent to mediation, they may choose a mediator either from the list of
certified mediators maintained by the Court or by the selection of a private mediator.  If a civil
action is referred to mediation without consent of the parties, the judicial officer responsible for
supervision of the program will select the mediator.

Mediation is non-judgmental.  The role of the mediator is to assist the parties in reaching
a resolution of their dispute.  The parties may confer with the mediator on an ex parte basis. 
Anything said to the mediator will be deemed to be confidential and will not be revealed to
another party or to others without the party’s consent.  The mediator’s hourly rate is $300.00,
which is borne equally by the parties.

If you would like further information with regard to the mediation program please review
the Guidelines for Mediation, which are available on the Court’s Web Site, PACER
(pacer.njd.uscourts.gov) and appear as Appendix Q to the Local Civil Rules.  You may also make
inquiries of the judicial officer responsible for supervision of the program.

Civil actions in which there are pro se parties (incarcerated or not) are not eligible for
mediation.

             DNJ-Med-001 (05-08)
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

CAMDEN VICINAGE

DOLORES KRUG, et al.,

        Plaintiffs,

v.

FOCUS RECEIVABLES MANAGEMENT,
LLC, et al.,

                  Defendants.

Civil No. 09-4310 (JEI/AMD)

SCHEDULING ORDER

This Scheduling Order confirms the directives given to
counsel at the scheduling conference pursuant to Rule 16, Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure on June 22, 2010; and the Court noting the
following appearances:  Philip D. Stern, Esquire, appearing on
behalf of the plaintiffs; and Virginia A. Pallotto, Esquire,
appearing on behalf of the defendant Focus Receivables Management,
LLC; and 

IT IS this 22nd day of June 2010, hereby ORDERED:

1.  The parties shall make FED. R. CIV. P. 26(a)
disclosures on or before July 16, 2010.

2.  The Court will conduct a telephone status conference
on September 8, 2010 at 3:00 P.M..  Counsel for plaintiff shall
initiate the telephone call.

THE FAILURE OF A PARTY OR ATTORNEY TO OBEY THIS ORDER MAY
RESULT IN IMPOSITION OF SANCTIONS UNDER FED. R. CIV. P. 16(f).

s/ Ann Marie Donio           
ANN MARIE DONIO
United States Magistrate Judge

cc:  Hon. Joseph E. Irenas
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PHILIP D. STERN & ASSOCIATES, LLC 

697 Valley Street, Suite 2-D 

Maplewood, NJ 07040 

(973) 379-7500 

Attorney of Record: Philip D. Stern 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs, Dolores Krug, Bruce 

Huffman, Donald Marso, and Jonathan Supler 

 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

 

 

DOLORES KRUG, an individual; BRUCE 

HUFFMAN, an individual; and DONALD 

MARSO, an individual; JONATHAN 

SUPLER, an individual; on behalf of 

themselves and all others similarly situated, 

 

  Plaintiffs, 

 

 vs. 

 

FOCUS RECEIVABLES MANAGEMENT, 

LLC, a Georgia Limited Liability Company;  

and JOHN AND JANE DOES NUMBERS 1 

THROUGH 50,  

 

  Defendants. 

 

Case 1:09-cv-04310-JEI-AM 

 

NOTICE OF APPEARANCE 

 

TO: The Clerk of this Court and all parties of record: 

I am admitted to practice in this Court and I appear in this action on behalf of: 

Plaintiffs, Dolores Krug, Bruce Huffman, Donald Marso, and Jonathan Supler. 

 Philip D. Stern & Associates, LLC 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs, Dolores Krug, Bruce 

Huffman, Donald Marso, and Jonathan Supler 

s/Inna Ryu 

Dated: August 10, 2010 Inna Ryu 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

CAMDEN VICINAGE

DOLORES KRUG, et al.,

        Plaintiffs,

v.

FOCUS RECEIVABLES MANAGEMENT,
LLC, et al.,

                  Defendants.

Civil No. 09-4310 (JEI/AMD)

SCHEDULING ORDER

This Scheduling Order confirms the directives given to
counsel during the telephone status conference on September 8,
2010; and the Court noting the following appearances:  Philip D.
Stern, Esquire, appearing on behalf of the plaintiffs; and Virginia
A. Pallotto, Esquire, appearing on behalf of the defendant Focus
Receivables Management, LLC; and 

IT IS this 13th day of September 2010, hereby ORDERED:

1.  Any motion for preliminary class approval shall be
filed by no later than October 22, 2010.

THE FAILURE OF A PARTY OR ATTORNEY TO OBEY THIS ORDER MAY
RESULT IN IMPOSITION OF SANCTIONS UNDER FED. R. CIV. P. 16(f).

s/ Ann Marie Donio           
ANN MARIE DONIO
United States Magistrate Judge

cc:  Hon. Joseph E. Irenas
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

CAMDEN VICINAGE

DOLORES KRUG, et al.,

        Plaintiffs,

v.

FOCUS RECEIVABLES MANAGEMENT,
LLC, et al.,

                  Defendants.

Civil No. 09-4310 (JEI/AMD)

ORDER ON INFORMAL APPLICATION

This Matter having come before the Court by way of letter
request dated October 21, 2010 from Philip D. Stern, Esquire,
counsel for plaintiffs, for an Order requesting that the Court's
Order requiring the motion for preliminary class approval to be
filed by October 22, 2010 be withdrawn; and it appearing that
defense counsel joins in this request; and for good cause shown:

IT IS this 21st day of October 2010, hereby

ORDERED that the time within which to file any motion for
preliminary class approval shall be, and hereby is, stayed; and it
is further

ORDERED that the Court will conduct a telephone status
conference on December 1, 2010 at 12:00 Noon.  Counsel for
plaintiffs shall initiate the telephone call.

s/ Ann Marie Donio           
ANN MARIE DONIO
United States Magistrate Judge

cc:  Hon. Joseph E. Irenas
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